CHEMICAL REVIEWS

Nanoporous Materials for the Onboard Storage of Natural Gas

K. Vasanth Kumar,*^{,†,‡,§} Kathrin Preuss,[†] Maria-Magdalena Titirici,[†] and Francisco Rodríguez-Reinoso[‡]

[†]Queen Mary, University of London, Mile End Road, E1 4NS London, United Kingdom

[‡]Laboratorio de Materiales Avanzados, Departamento de Química Inorgánica, Universidad de Alicante, s/n-03690 San Vicente del Raspeig, Spain

[§]NCSR "Demokritos", Aghia Paraskevi Attikis, 15310 Greece

Supporting Information

ABSTRACT: Climate change, global warming, urban air pollution, energy supply uncertainty and depletion, and rising costs of conventional energy sources are, among others, potential socioeconomic threats that our community faces today. Transportation is one of the primary sectors contributing to oil consumption and global warming, and natural gas (NG) is considered to be a relatively clean transportation fuel that can significantly improve local air quality, reduce greenhouse-gas emissions, and decrease the energy dependency on oil sources. Internal combustion engines (ignited or compression) require only slight modifications for use with natural gas; rather, the main problem is the relatively short driving distance of natural-gas-powered vehicles due to the lack of an appropriate storage method for the gas, which has a low energy density. The U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) has set some targets for NG storage capacity to



obtain a reasonable driving range in automotive applications, ruling out the option of storing methane at cryogenic temperatures. In recent years, both academia and industry have foreseen the storage of natural gas by adsorption (ANG) in porous materials, at relatively low pressures and ambient temperatures, as a solution to this difficult problem. This review presents recent developments in the search for novel porous materials with high methane storage capacities. Within this scenario, both carbon-based materials and metal—organic frameworks are considered to be the most promising materials for natural gas. Recent advancements, technological issues, advantages, and drawbacks involved in natural gas storage in these two classes of materials are also summarized. Further, an overview of the recent developments and technical challenges in storing natural gas as hydrates in wetted porous carbon materials is also included. Finally, an analysis of design factors and technical issues that need to be considered before adapting vehicles to ANG technology is also presented.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1796
2. Conventional Methods for the Storage of Natural	
Gas	1797
3. Adsorbed Natural Gas (ANG)	1798
4. Carbon Materials	1800
5. Metal—Organic Frameworks	1807
6. Storing Methane as Clathrates in Moistened	
Carbon	1814
7. Isosteric Heat of Adsorption	1817
8. Technical Challenges with ANG	1817
9. Visions for the Future	1819
Associated Content	1820
Supporting Information	1820
Author Information	1820
Corresponding Author	1820
ORCID	1820
Notes	1820
Biographies	1820
Acknowledgments	1820
References	1820

1. INTRODUCTION

The depletion of global oil reserves and concerns over climate change due to increasing CO_2 levels in the atmosphere prompt the need to find a new clean and abundant source of alternative energy for the future. A 2004 report from the European Union (EU) Commission stated that transportation is the main energy-consuming sector in the EU, accounting for 32% of energy use and 67% of final oil demand, as transportation is almost solely dependent on oil-derived products.¹ Projections in this report indicated that the EU dependence on imported oils might increase by 90% by 2020. According to this report, the per capita transport energy consumption increased in the EU at an annual average growth rate of 13% from 1990 to 2008. In 2008, road transport alone represented, on average, 81% of the total energy consumption in the transport sector, with cars representing almost 50% and road freight transport about 31%. Another EU report, from 2011, also mentioned that the CO₂ emissions from transportation increased by almost 24% from 1990 to 2008, with the transport sector alone representing 42%

Received: August 1, 2016 Published: January 17, 2017



of total CO₂ emissions of final consumers.² Emissions from cars increased by 18% in the same period of time and, in 2008, contributed nearly 54% of the total emissions of the transportation sector. Projections indicate that CO₂ emissions due to transport alone grew by 50% between 1990 and 2007, with 90% of this coming from road transport.³ Recently, the EU pledged in the Copenhagen Accord to reduce CO₂ emissions by 20–30% compared to the emission levels in 1990 by 2020.⁴

The type of fuel burned, combustion efficiency, and emissions of air pollution are intrinsically related. Finding a feasible and efficient alternative fuel source could solve both the oil import dependency, which threatens the diversified energy supply, and the environmental pressures from CO₂ and other emissions. In this sense, the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission suggested natural gas as a promising fuel for securing and diversifying the transportation energy demand in a more environmentally friendly way.⁵ Natural gas has several advantages over conventional fuels, beginning with its availability and clean burning properties.^{6,7} In terms of availability, statistical projections indicate that approximately 368 trillion cubic meters of natural gas could be recovered from all deposits of natural gas hydrate found worldwide.⁸ Managing gas extraction of just 1% of these hydrate sources could flood the world with a clean-burning fuel thst yields, upon combustion, the lowest amount of greenhouse gases of any available fossil fuel.8 Regarding the environmental impact of natural gas in vehicles, significantly lower amounts of harmful emissions such as NO_{x1} particulate matter, the greenhouse gas carbon dioxide, and toxic and carcinogenic substances (e.g., benzene and 1,3-butadiene) are released when compared to engines running on gasoline or diesel. A vehicle running on compressed natural gas (CNG) emits 70% less CO, 87% less non-methane organic gas, 87% less nitrogen oxide, and 20% less CO₂ than a vehicle running on gasoline.⁹

Additionally, a natural gas vehicle demands only slight modifications of the conventional spark- or compressionignited engine, which can be realized with very little expense. Natural gas can be used in spark-ignited internal combustion engines, and such engines can be flexibly operated as dedicated engines (engines that run on only natural gas) or as bifuel engines.¹⁰ Bifuel or dual engines are capable of running on two fuels, natural gas and gasoline, depending on the momentum and availability of the two fuels, switching back and forth from gasoline or diesel to natural gas either manually or automatically. The efficiency of bifuel engines is considerably lower than that of dedicated engines, as the engine parameters cannot be optimized due to the different fuel properties of gasoline and natural gas; in general, the power delivered while running on natural gas is typically 10-15% less because the compression ratio of engines is lower for gasoline engines.¹¹ Natural gas can also be used in compression-ignited internal combustion engines (diesel engines) that lack spark plugs. In this case, diesel is injected at the end of the compression stroke, thereby maintaining the original diesel-engine operating principle. Because of the low energy density of natural gas compared to diesel (see Table 1 in section 3), dual-fuel engines consume 10-15% more than diesel compression engines.¹⁰ Dedicated natural gas engines designed for a high compression ratio (because of the fuel's high octane number, 120-130) are highly efficient and fuel-economical when compared to bifuel or dual engines, as the vehicle does not have to carry two types of fuel, thereby increasing the cargo capacity and reducing weight.

Despite this flexibility and additional advantages, natural gas vehicles still have some severe drawbacks. Even in developed countries, not enough refueling stations for natural gas are available, making such vehicles impracticable for cross-country drives. Additionally, the driving distance is lower than for gasoline-powered vehicles (the fuel tank would take more space in the trunk of the car, making onboard storage of natural gas a problem). Despite the advances in the use of natural gas in spark-ignited, compression-ignited, and bifuel engines, a vehicle run on natural gas would have a driving range of about 300 km with the current natural gas storage technologies. As a case report, the Honda Civic GX, which runs on compressed natural gas, can provide only 300 km before it needs refueling, which is considerably less compared than for the gasoline-powered Honda Civic GX, which has a driving range of 650 km.¹²

Considering the increasing trend in oil usage and emission rates, natural gas seems to be a promising alternative for oil and a long-term solution (at least for the next five to six decades) to overcome oil dependence. Thus, it is reasonable to expect support and motivation from governments, nongovernmental organizations, and scientists to target a rapid expansion of the number of natural gas fueling stations worldwide. Assuming that this scenario is realized in the near future, the main drawback when using natural gas vehicles still remains the low energy density of the fuel, which demands a refinement of existing technologies or finding a new technology/suitable system for storing an acceptable volume of natural gas to provide a reasonable driving distance.

A balloon of natural gas at room temperature and pressure would have to be nearly 1000 times larger than the container needed to deliver the same amount of energy with diesel fuel, which is certainly not a practical solution for use in a vehicle. Combustion of 1 L of natural gas at standard temperature and pressure (STP) will yield 0.033 MJ, whereas combustion of 1 L of gasoline will yield 34.2 MJ. The huge difference in energy density and the limited space availability in vehicles for onboard storage reduce the driving range of a vehicle running with a dedicated natural gas engine using a conventional storage system when compared to a vehicle running with gasoline or diesel. Extra storage tanks can increase the driving range, but the additional weight would displace payload capacity. Thus, to make natural gas a viable alternative fuel, a large amount of energy must be stored in a container of acceptable volume at a reasonable pressure.¹³ This work presents an overview of the available technologies for storing methane in different classes of novel highly porous materials, which are able to deliver an amount of energy as near as possible to that of gasoline/diesel fuel.

In what follows, it is assumed that natural gas and methane are synonymous, but it should be mentioned that natural gas contains appreciable quantities of minor compounds that can affect the performance of vehicles fueled with adsorbed natural gas (ANG), as discussed in later sections.

2. CONVENTIONAL METHODS FOR THE STORAGE OF NATURAL GAS

Natural gas is conventionally stored in high-pressure tanks made of very thick steel that are tested up to 30 MPa and filled up to 18–25 MPa at room temperature. To deliver the energy equivalent to 1 gal of diesel fuel, over 4 gal of compressed natural gas (CNG) at 18–20 MPa would be needed, which is impractical for a conventional vehicle. Thus, a typical 63 kg natural gas fuel tank filled with compressed gas at 18–20 MPa

holds the energy equivalent of only about 4 gal of gasoline, which limits the driving range to about 140-190 km. The driving range can be improved by adding extra tanks, but this will also add weight and decrease the payload capacity of the vehicle. The use of CNG implies more practical problems, some of which are as follows: (i) The quality of the fuel is difficult to maintain because the composition of natural gas changes with region and time. (ii) The compression of natural gas increases the concentration of moisture and non-methane hydrocarbons, which could significantly affect the engine components, as well as the overall engine's performance. (iii) Natural gas requires a multistage compressor and a specific refueling system, which varies with the type of refueling method (fast or slow refill). In addition, specific cylindrical or spherical heavy steel or expensive composite storage tanks and complex valves are needed to ensure safety, because of the very high operating pressures and the resulting hoop and axial stresses generated within the vessel.

Alternatively, natural gas could be stored as liquefied natural gas (LNG) by cooling it to below its boiling temperature (110 K), increasing its energy density at moderate pressures of 0.2-0.6 MPa. For comparison, the energy density of LNG (22.2 MJ/L) is 2.4 times greater than that of CNG (9.2 MJ/L at 250 bar), 59.5% of that of diesel fuel (37.3 MJ/L), and 65% of that of gasoline (34.2 MJ/L). Despite of its higher energy density, LNG demands large, heavy, and highly insulated storage tanks to keep the fuel cold, which adds to the cost of the vehicle by a significant amount. These harsh operating conditions make it harder to implement this technology for the onboard storage of methane in domestic cars or even in heavy-duty vehicles. LNG also has the disadvantage of fuel boil-off induced by heat transfer if the vehicle is parked indoors or outdoors over a period of time, which, in turn, will alter the composition of the fuel.¹⁴ Among currently available technologies, LNG is not feasible for passenger vehicles, and its application is limited to only heavy-duty vehicles, where the fuel is completely exploited in daily runs, rather than in light-duty vehicles or passenger cars. LNG also seems to be a promising fuel option for the aviation industry. A 2012 report by Boeing stated that LNG could fuel aircraft in the future and thus reduce fuel burn by as much as 62% over current aircraft, with lower emissions.¹

3. ADSORBED NATURAL GAS (ANG)

The standard practice is to express adsorption as a Gibbs surface excess quantity, which is the amount of adsorbate present in the adsorbed layer within a pore volume in excess of the bulk gas density. Conventionally, the surface excess amount is the quantity measured in standard volumetric or gravimetric adsorption equipment; it is also the value used in the large majority of scientific articles published on methane storage. Nevertheless, the absolute adsorption, which cannot be measured directly in adsorption experiments, does frequently appear in the literature. Absolute adsorption values involve an additional parameter that considers the void spaces within the vicinity of the solid potential field and the space outside the potential field of the solid. Unless otherwise specified, all storage capacity values reported in this review correspond to Gibbs excess adsorption. Of course, this means that the values given in this text are lower than the actual volumes of methane inside real systems (container plus the adsorbent plus the methane), but they correspond to the experimental values measured in conventional volumetric adsorption equipment and are published as such. Additionally excess adsorption gives

a practical and reliable measure of the functional usability of the material to store or deliver methane from porous materials.

Storing methane at relatively low pressures and room temperature by adsorption could overcome some of the disadvantages of CNG and LNG; thus, adsorption has been considered as a promising storage method for vehicle transportation. Adsorption in porous materials offers the possibility of reaching energy densities similar to that of CNG at 20–25 MPa and almost one-third that of liquid (LNG) at a much higher temperature, where both of these aspects are advantageous for transportation. Researchers at Brookhaven National Laboratory tested several adsorbents for their storage capacities in the early 1990s and found that, at 4.37 MPa, storage by adsorption in a nanometer-sized carbon pore increases the gas density by nearly 5 times.¹⁴ This implies that the CNG density at 20 MPa (0.1572 g/mL) could be attained by ANG at roughly one-fifth of the gas pressure of CNG, thus simultaneously increasing the comfort factor and reducing the storage cost per unit volume of gas. The theoretical works of Matranga et al.¹⁶ and Tan and Gubbins¹⁷ suggested that, at 3.5 MPa and 298 K, a methane density of up to 0.223 g/mL could be reached in a carbon pore with an effective pore width of 0.78 or 0.8 nm. Experimental data confirmed that a methane density of up to 0.21-0.23 g/mL could be obtained with carbons that contain only narrow micropores.18

Because ANG operates at lower pressures than CNG, it alleviates the need for thick vessels to withstand high storage pressures (which are bulky and costly) and the need for multistage compressors required to fill CNG tanks. Additionally, the reduced operating pressure increases the safety for personnel and equipment in the case of collisions. Other important advantages include space aesthetics because ANG is compatible with a flat tank. Thus, it is possible to install multiple storage tanks to fit the space available in a vehicle efficiently without sacrificing passenger or cargo space, which would ultimately increase the driving distance. In recent years, ANG has emerged as the most promising method for providing safety and the desired volumetric storage capacity for a reasonable driving range.

The crucial factor when designing storage materials is considering the space occupied by the porous material in the storage container, and the space wasted by poor packing of porous materials should be kept to a minimum,¹⁹ as the mileage per unit volume of a tank of natural gas is already only 0.10% of that of gasoline. A commonly invoked benchmark for the adsorption capacity required to obtain a reasonable driving range in automotive applications was provided by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), which set a target for storage capacity at 3.5 MPa and 298 K of 150 v/v (volume of methane adsorbed per unit volume of adsorbent material) for the year 1995 and an even higher value of 180 v/v (or 118 g/L of carbon) for 2000.^{14,20} This represents the volume of methane delivered (not the storage capacity) at standard temperature and pressure (STP) per unit volume of the vessel. This value is independent of the gas adsorbed and the gas that remains in the gaseous state in equilibrium with the bulk gas phase;²¹ that is, it corresponds to the experimentally measured values in conventional adsorption equipment. The deliverable capacity corresponds to the difference between the amount adsorbed at the storage pressure and the amount of methane remaining after the desorption step at ambient temperature and pressure, both corresponding to experimentally measured values. Often, the

discharge capacity is directly estimated from the adsorption isotherms, assuming that the enthalpies of adsorption (ΔH_{ads}) and desorption (ΔH_{des}) are constant, which is valid for a system operating under isothermal conditions. In recent years, the value of 180 v/v has been taken by researchers as a landmark for the storage capacity rather than the deliverable capacity, and it is often considered as a yardstick for comparing the performances of adsorbents. Historically, the pressure of 3.5 MPa was selected arbitrarily to compare the performance of sorbent materials for methane storage. Furthermore, this pressure is about one-sixth or one-seventh of the maximum loading pressure of commercial CNG tanks in many countries, and it does not require heavy, thick-walled cylindrical tanks or multistage compressors.²¹ Online commercial advertisements from different sources indicate that there are several singlestage natural gas compression units available on the market for home installation, in the range of US\$ 500-3000 delivering a maximum pressure between 2 and 5 MPa. More generally, ANG units can be operated up to a practical limit of about 5 MPa, which is only one-fifth to one-sixth of the pressure of CNG at 25 MPa and involves the use of only inexpensive twostage compressors. As a general rule and also for practical implications, to make ANG equivalent to CNG, the same or even larger amounts of natural gas should be delivered at onefifth or less of the pressure of CNG.

In terms of energy density, the value of 180 v/v corresponds to the energy density of compressed natural gas stored at a very high pressure of 16.3 MPa. This value can be considered as a vardstick for the time being, because this target value was set considering consumer acceptance, safety issues, cost, and so on. In terms of driving distance, the storage value of 180 v/v corresponds to one-fifth of the driving range of the equivalent volume of gasoline tanks; thus storage capacities higher than this value would be desirable for longer driving distances. The U.S. Department of Energy recently announced a new program called "Methane Opportunities for Vehicular Energy (MOVE)" that sets new and aggressive targets for ANG vehicles.²² CNG compression at 25 MPa requires five-stage compression, which is energy-consuming and requires high installation costs. The MOVE program demands adsorbent materials to meet energy densities equivalent to that of compressed methane at 25 MPa, but strictly at lower pressures, typically \leq 3.5 MPa, to reduce the burden on home refueling. More specifically, to make the energy density of ANG equivalent to that of CNG at 25 MPa, the sorbent-level volumetric capacity must exceed 0.188 g/cm³ or 11.72 mmol/cm³ (which is the density of compressed natural gas at 25 MPa and 298 K). At standard temperature and pressure (STP) conditions of 273.15 K and 0.1 MPa, 1 g of methane occupies a volume of 1.4123 L. This volumetric capacity of 0.188 g/cm3 at 25 MPa and 298 K occupies a volume equivalent to 266 v/v (based on adsorbent volume). The gravimetric adsorption capacity of the adsorbent must be as high as 0.5 g/g. If a 25% packing loss (in the actual storage tank) is taken into account, the required volumetric capacity becomes ridiculously high, 355 v/v and 50 wt %, which is considerably higher than the previous target of 180 v/v. It is worth mentioning here that the value of 266 v/v is obtained based on STP conditions according to IUPAC. Traditionally, researchers try to obtain this value by multiplying the amount adsorbed at 298 K by a factor of 1.5 L/g, which is slightly higher than the density of methane at 273.15 K and 1 bar (1.4123 L). For the case of conformed materials, if the monolith adsorbent volume fits the entire tank, then the value

of 266 v/v can be taken as a milestone for research motivation. In addition, secondary targets of the DOE MOVE program demand ideas for the integration of sorbent materials into gas tanks to improve packing density, conformability factor, tank-filling and delivery rates, and so on. Table 1 reports the

Table 1. Energy Densities of Methane and Conventional ${\sf Fluids}^a$

pressure (MPa)	volumetric storage capacity (v/v) at STP	energy density ^b (MJ/L)
CNG (15 MPa)	168	5.80
CNG (20 MPa)	222	7.68
CNG (21 MPa)	232	8.01
CNG (22 MPa)	241	8.33
CNG (25 MPa)	266	9.2
LNG (110 K and 0.1 MPa)	600	22.2
gasoline	С	34.2
diesel	d	37.3

^{*a*}Density of methane taken from National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) database. ^{*b*}1 L of CH₄ = 0.0345 MJ) ^{*c*}Required density of methane in a CNG tank to make it equivalent to gasoline: 0.9889 g/cm³ ^{*d*}Required density of methane in a CNG tank to make it equivalent to diesel: 1.0785 g/cm³

volumetric storage capacity and energy density of CNG at different pressures; for comparison/reference, the energy density values of liquefied natural gas (LNG), gasoline, and diesel are included in Table 1 as well. Although not practically possible to attain, Table 1 also gives the required levels of methane density in a CNG tank to make it equivalent to gasoline and diesel.

Although there are no suggestions about the targets on delivery, the DOE MOVE program mentions that the engine inlet pressure must be greater than 0.48 MPa, and proposals for novel ideas on how to mitigate the inaccessible methane stored below this pressure were encouraged. At this stage, even though none of the above targets demanded by DOE break any law of nature, they appear daunting from a practical point of view, given that, to date, there is no convincing evidence available in the literature allowing even the old target of 180 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 298 K to be reached in terms of storage or delivery with any conformed porous material. To the best of our knowledge, no research has been reported in the literature that allow one to on reaching these new DOE targets (0.188 g/cm³ or 266 v/v and 50 wt %, both at 298 K and 1 bar at 298 K). The rest of this review focuses on the work that has been carried out with the goal of developing novel porous materials that approach the 2000 landmark methane storage value of 180 v/v.

Aiming to reach the objective of 180 v/v, several research groups worldwide have tried to develop different classes of porous materials over the past two decades. These materials include Amberlite, dow resins, zeolites, silica-based compounds, xerogels, aerogels, MCM41, and carbon-based materials such as superactivated carbons, single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs), activated carbon fibers, and carbon nanohorns.^{13,18,23-41} Conventional zeolites typically exhibit very low storage capacities not exceeding 100 v/v, which are far from the DOE targets.^{14,20} Attempts to increase their low storage capacities have been hindered by their structural limitations such as the presence of cylindrical mesopores and difficulties in practically reaching surface areas greater than 1000 m²/g.^{26,27} The grand canonical Monte Carlo (GCMC)



Figure 1. (a) Potential energy, u(z), for a spherical methane Lennard-Jones (LJ) site interacting with the walls of a slit pore of width H = 1.2 nm. The LJ parameters for C and CH₄ were taken directly from the literature,⁴⁹ and z is a measure of the distance between the center of a carbon atom on the pore walls and the center of a methane molecule. (b) Carbon prototype of a slit-shaped pore that can be taken as a reasonable model representing the porosity of activated carbon.²⁹

simulation results of Cracknell et al.¹⁹ confirmed that, for the adsorptive storage of natural gas, a microporous carbon that has an optimal pore size is better than an optimal zeolite. They found that, at 3.4 MPa and 274 K, a prototype carbon with slit-shaped micropores yields a theoretical storage capacity of 166 g/L compared to 53.1 g/L for a zeolite with cylindrical pores of the same dimensions. If one could ignore the adsorption forces, then it could be accepted that the packing density of a spherical molecule in micropores with widths about twice the molecular dimensions of the probe molecule is about 65% for cylindrical pores, but over 90% for slit-shaped pores.⁴²

In general, carbon-based materials represent the best adsorbent materials because of the much higher packing density of methane molecules in slit-shaped pores; thus, other classes of materials exhibit lower storage capacities when compared to carbon materials with similar surface areas.^{26,43} Typically, as discussed in the next section, porous carbons exhibit storage capacities ranging from 50 to 160 v/v, and only one scientific publication has included a carbon material exhibiting a storage capacity higher than 180 v/v;⁴⁴ however, the fuel deliverable capacity of the latter was accepted to be less than 165 v/v. Because of the practical difficulties associated with most high-surface-area carbons reaching the DOE targets, storing natural gas as hydrates in wetted carbon structures has been considered as a complement to the ANG technique in recent years, as described in section 6. Additionally, metalorganic frameworks (MOFs), with periodic porous structures, have also received considerable attention from the research community, as they seem to exhibit storage capacities comparable to or even superior to those of carbon-based materials.^{45–47} Although some MOF compounds have been claimed to exceed the landmark value of 180 v/v for methane storage capacity by a significant amount, 47,48 these values should be considered with care, as discussed in detail in section 5.

The aim of this work is to summarize recent advances and other technological issues, as well as advantages and drawbacks involved in storing natural gas in two of the most promising adsorbents, namely, carbon-based materials and MOFs. The rest of this review is divided into several sections as follows: Sections 4 and 5 describe the methane storage properties of some novel carbon-based materials and some of the most promising MOF structures, respectively. Section 6 highlights the advantages and limitations of storing natural gas as hydrates within the wet carbon nanopores, and sections 7 and 8 discuss design factors and technical issues that should be considered for the implementation of ANG technology in vehicles. Finally, section 9 presents visions for the future use of ANG technology in the transportation sector. At every stage of this review, a structure-property relationship between the different porous materials and the storage capacity for methane is described, which allows us to emphasize specific points/approaches to be considered in the design of adsorbents for the storage of natural gas.

4. CARBON MATERIALS

The extensive pore structure, chemical stability, variety of structural forms, and ability to modify or tune the porosity using a wide range of preparation methods from a large set of precursors make carbon materials a primary class of adsorbents for the storage of methane for vehicular applications. The adsorption of methane on the carbon surface is essentially due to van der Waals forces, as methane has no permanent dipole or quadrupole moment. Thus, the performance of the adsorbent depends on the attractive forces between the carbon atoms at the surface and the methane molecules, which depends on the distance z between the center of a methane molecule and the center of a carbon atom on the pore wall. Figure 1a shows a plot of the Lennard-Jonnes interaction for a spherical methane molecule with a surface carbon atom in a model slit pore (Figure 1b) of width H = 1.2 nm, as measured between the centers of two carbon atoms on opposite walls of the pore. (H' = 0.86 nm is the distance between the surfaces of two carbon atoms on opposite walls of the pore.) It can be observed that methane experiences a strong attractive force and finds a more stable position (z_0) at 0.36 nm, which is about one molecular diameter of methane; at the center of the pore, methane experiences attractive forces that are too weak to expect any formation of a second layer. Thus, during adsorption, after the completion of a first layer, the gas fills the remaining space and might form a low-density methane layer or just fill the remaining pore volume with a gaslike density. The interactions between methane and the pore wall gradually decrease with increasing pore width.

Methane, the main constituent of natural gas (NG), has a critical temperature of 191 K and, consequently, cannot be liquefied at room temperature alone. At room temperature, after the completion of a monolayer by adsorption, the bulk

Chemical Reviews



Figure 2. (a) Gravimetric adsorption capacity of methane (in weight percentage) versus the BET specific surface area of carbon structures. (Orange circles represent carbon materials corresponding to materials with slit-shaped pores, including activated carbons and carbon fibers.) (b) Volumetric adsorption capacity (v/v) versus the product of the BET specific surface area (SSA) and packing density. (For the case of conformed materials such as monoliths, the packing density corresponds to the piece density.) (c) Volumetric adsorption capacity (v/v) of carbon structures versus the BET specific surface area. (d) Gravimetric adsorption capacity of methane (in weight percentage) versus the micropore volume of carbon structures. (Unless specified otherwise, all of the adsorption capacities correspond to excess adsorption, and all of the adsorption capacities shown correspond to the amount adsorbed at 3.5 MPa and ambient temperature. All BET surface areas and micropore volumes taken from literature were assumed to be measured following IUPAC standards.^{21,23,24,37,38,50-65})

methane molecules interact mainly with the adsorbed methane molecules, as the interactions with the surface carbon atoms are almost negligible. Thus, after completion of the monolayer in larger pores, the methane molecules eventually move around the available pore space, filling the available volume with a gas density (compressed gas) depending on the pressure, forming a gaslike density at the center of the pores. For practical purposes, and also to meet the DOE requirements, the pore size should be optimized to store methane with a density equivalent to CNG at 20-25 MPa but at lower pressures, typically approximately one-fifth to one-sixth that of CNG.

For graphite intercalated with two layers of adsorbed methane, with the interlayer distance increased by twice the molecular dimension of methane, assuming that the molecules are closely packed in a two-dimensional hexagonal lattice, given the specific surface area of graphite (2620 m²/g), the saturation capacity for methane, a_{sr} can be analytically estimated.¹⁶ Assuming that the energy of interaction between methane and carbon could be optimized, Matranga et al.¹⁶ analytically

obtained an adsorption isotherm for the perfect binding affinity, C, of a Langmuir isotherm $(n = a_s Cp/1 + Cp)$ to deliver the maximum amount of methane, a_s (0.552 g/g), over a cycle operating between a storage pressure of p_1 and a delivery pressure of p_2 . For a system operating under isothermal conditions (300 K) between $p_1 = 3.45$ MPa and $p_2 = 0.136$ MPa, to deliver the maximum amount of methane, they found that the optimal binding affinity should be C = 1.461 MPa. They compared the optimum isotherm with some of the experimental isotherms obtained with activated carbons with different BET (Brunauer-Emmett-Teller) specific surface areas $(1000-3000 \text{ m}^2/\text{g})$ and theoretically obtained isotherms using molecular simulations. They found that the affinity of the carbon materials in practice was much lower than the optimum affinity and, thus, that the actual storage would be <55 wt % at 298 K, regardless of the energy of interaction. Adsorption capacities closer to 55 wt % have never been reported, especially at 3.5 MPa. A mesoporous carbon [mesocarbon microbeads (MCMBs)] with a surface area of 3180 m^2/g and an average pore size of 2.47 nm was found to store up to 34.2 and 45.5 wt % (markedly higher but estimated value) of methane at 3.5 and 7 MPa, respectively, with a deliverable capacity of 29.97 wt % (volumetric storage capacity was not provided) at 298 K.⁵⁰ This is still far from the value obtained by Matranga et al.¹⁶ using the analytical method.

What is the relation between the physical properties of the carbon materials and the methane adsorption capacity? If the amount adsorbed is expressed in terms of gravimetric adsorption capacity and plotted against the BET specific surface area for several carbon-based materials (both powdered and conformed materials) of different morphologies obtained by different activation methods from different precursors, a fairly linear relationship between these two parameters can be found (Figure 2a). The scattering observed in the relationship between the surface area and storage capacity can be attributed to the uncertainty associated with the experimental method used to determine the surface areas of the carbon materials from the adsorption of N₂ at 77 K. Another explanation for the scattering of the data in Figure 2a might be the properties of the material itself. For instance, high-surface-area carbons obtained by chemical oxidation or physical activation usually contain larger pores (mesopores), and the high surface areas in these materials are created at the expense of material loss due to etching, that is, a decrease in carbon framework density. The framework density plays a very minor role in the uptake of N₂ at 77 K, whereas it can play a crucial role in the uptake of methane, which is a supercritical fluid at 298 K.

In a recent study, Srinivas et al.⁵⁹ showed that carbons derived from graphene oxide seem to deviate from the relationship between structural properties and gravimetric storage capacity that usually exists for carbon materials. They observed that a graphene oxide derived carbon (GODC4-800) with a lower surface area, 1276 m²/g, adsorbed more methane than carbon Norit R1, which has a surface area of 1450 m²/g. They also reported that another graphene oxide derived carbon (GODCsol-900) with a surface area of 1894 m²/g adsorbed more methane (on a weight basis) than the commercial carbon Maxsorb, which has a surface area of 3250 m²/g. In any case, when the results for carbon materials are plotted as a function of surface area (Figure 2a) on a global scale, the same linear trend is found (see the trend line in Figure 2a).

To determine the extent to which the surface area of the activated carbon plays a role in the volumetric storage capacity, we also plotted the volumetric adsorption capacity of methane as a function of the surface area (Figure 2b). It can be clearly seen that the volumetric storage capacity globally increases with surface area up to 2000 m^2/g , after which an apparent drop in volumetric storage capacity occurs. This behavior can be explained through the concept of the packing density of carbon materials. By definition, the term volumetric storage capacity is not a material property, as it involves an additional parameter, for example, the packing density in the case of powdered materials and the geometric density in the case of solid monoliths. The packing density of a material is strongly influenced by the activation process itself: The higher the degree of activation, the higher the surface area and porosity and, thus, the lower the packing density and vice versa. Because the volumetric storage capacity is a function of the product of the gravimetric storage capacity and the carbon packing density and also because these two parameters vary in opposite ways because of the limitations of the available synthesis and activation strategies, an optimum value for the volumetric

storage capacity at which there is an appropriate balance between the mass storage capacity and the packing density exists. This is evidenced in Figure 2b by the fact that several materials (both powdered and conformed materials) with a wide range of surface areas exhibit the same remarkable methane adsorption capacity of $\geq 160 \text{ v/v}$ at 3.5 MPa and 298 K under STP conditions. For instance, a carbon pellet made from single-walled nanohorns (SWNHs) with a low surface area of 1097 m²/g and a high packing density of 0.98 g/cm³ was found to exhibit a volumetric storage capacity of 160 v/v.^{28} On the other hand, a high-surface-area carbon $(3290 \text{ m}^2/\text{g})$ with a low packing density of 0.53 g/cm^3 was reported to have a lower volumetric adsorption capacity of 142 v/v.⁶⁴ In Figure 2b, we show the packing densities of some low-surface-area carbons and some high-surface-area carbons that have methane adsorption capacities of >150 v/v. As can be easily realized from this figure, no simple correlation exists between the adsorbent design parameters and the volumetric storage capacity. In an attempt to find such a correlation, we plotted the volumetric adsorption capacities of the same carbon materials versus the product of their BET specific surface areas (SSAs) and their apparent packing densities (PDs) (i.e., SSA \times PD) (Figure 2c). The product of the specific surface area and the packing density gives a measure of the amount of surface area per unit volume of adsorbent. Figure 2c shows that the volumetric storage capacity increases logarithmically with increasing value of SSA \times PD. If the logarithmic expression included in Figure 2c holds true, then to achieve the DOE targets of 180 and 263 v/v, materials are needed that have surface areas per unit volume of adsorbent of 2955 and 11543 m^2/cm^3 , respectively. As a word of caution, these numbers are approximate values obtained using the empirical expression shown in Figure 2c. In addition, the logarithmic relationship presented in Figure 2c ignores a crucial adsorbent design parameter, namely, the pore volume and its distribution, as well as the loss of material properties that would occur during the transformation of powdered materials into conformed products (such as monoliths). Thus, the values extrapolated from the expression provided in Figure 2c can provide only a global picture on what type of material property is required to achieve the DOE targets. For instance, to achieve the new DOE MOVE target of 266 v/v, even a material with very high packing density of 1.5 g/cm³ should have a surface area of 7695 m^2/g . Materials with such combination of properties are practically hard to obtain at least with the available techniques. On the positive side, based on the papers reviewed in this work and according to the expression shown in Figure 2c, there is a hope to reach the DOE target of 180 v/v with a conformed material that has a packing/apparent density of about 1.2 g/cm³ and 2463 m^2/g . Such properties are achievable and are possible to obtain with proper design of experimental synthesis.

Other parameters that are considered to be of great importance in designing carbon materials are pore volume and pore width. As emphasized earlier in Figure 1, a pore size greater than twice the diameter of a methane molecule is not useful for the storage of methane at room temperature and 3.5 MPa (although such pores are useful for increasing the adsorption kinetics), and in fact, plenty of research points to the fact that the storage capacity is linearly proportional to the total micropore volume.^{29,51,66} In some articles, the fact that the storage capacity is a strong function of the volume of narrow micropores (<0.7–0.8 nm) and the micropore size distribution

Chemical Reviews

rather than just the total micropore volume has been reported. 18,29,52

To obtain a clear picture of the role of microporosity in the adsorption of methane, we plotted the amount of methane adsorbed versus the microporous volume (Figure 2d). It can be seen from Figure 2d that the methane adsorption increases linearly with increasing micropore volume up to 1.3 cm³/g, after which a decrease in the methane uptake occurs. This trend can be explained by considering the micropore size distributions of carbon structures. Materials with huge micropore volumes usually contain larger micropores (0.8-2.0 nm), and methane is expected to fill such pores with a higher density at pressures of >3.5 MPa. On the other hand, a carbon structure that contains a large volume of narrow micropores (<0.8 nm) can confine methane with a relatively higher density within the pore volume, and thus, such a material can exhibit a higher methane uptake. Rodríguez-Reinoso et al.¹⁸ and Molina-Sabio and Rodríguez-Reinoso³⁵ performed experimental studies that exclusively considered the above-mentioned issues. Their studies emphasized the influence of the micropore size distribution on the ultimate methane storage capacity. Their experimental results revealed the need for a certain level of pore size heterogeneity to improve the storage capacity of an adsorbent tank operating at pressures greater than 2.5 MPa. Specifically, they found that, at 298 K, the adsorption in narrow micropores (0.7-0.8 nm) reached a saturation limit due to pore volume restrictions at about 2.5 MPa and, above this working pressure, larger micropores were essential to increase the excess adsorption by a significant amount. Their experimental results confirmed that, although narrow micropores do favor methane adsorption at 298 K, wider micropores (0.7-2 nm) are needed to improve the storage capacity of adsorption systems operating at pressures higher than 2.5 MPa. Their experimental results showed a linear trend in the relationship between the volume of narrow micropores and the methane density. Their calculations, which relied on a graphical method, indicated that a methane density of up to 0.21-0.23 g/cm³ could be reached within narrow micropores at 3.0 MPa and a methane density of up to 0.09 g/cm³ could be reached in wider micropores (0.7-2.0)nm), roughly 3 times lower than in narrow micropores. These results seem to be in agreement with the results obtained using in situ small-angle neutron scattering.⁵² For comparison, the bulk density of compressed methane at this pressure (3.0 MPa) is 0.02 g/cm^3 , which is 4.5 and 11.5 times lower than the densities of methane achieved in wider and narrow micropores, respectively. Despite the low density of methane achieved in larger micropores, larger micropores still seem to play a crucial and exclusive role in the uptake of excess methane at higher pressures (p > 2.5 MPa).

All of these experimental works clearly highlight the following concept: For low-pressure storage of methane, only narrow micropores are needed, but for storage by adsorption at intermediate pressures, typically >3.5 MPa, the presence of larger micropores might be essential. For this reason, increasing the surface area typically above 2000 m^2/g produces a loss of the volumetric storage capacity at the typical pressure of 3.5 MPa, as attempts to increase the surface area are always accompanied by the penalty of a loss in narrow porosity. When the pore dimensions exceed the size of two methane molecules, the interaction at the center of the pore is very weak (as emphasized earlier based on Figure 1a), and the excess adsorption is not sufficient to form any additional high-density

methane layers in the pore centers or within the available pore volume, especially at lower pressures (\sim 3.5 MPa). The above experimentally observed results were found to be in excellent agreement with the results obtained from molecular simulations. Using GCMC simulations, Matranga et al.¹⁶ determined that a slit-shaped pore with a size of H = 1.14 nm (H' =0.8 nm; see Figure 1a for the definitions of H and H'), which is able to hold exactly two layers of methane, is the optimum pore for obtaining a relatively higher usable methane storage capacity at 3.5 MPa. Assuming that three graphitic planes bound each pore wall (as in a typical graphite crystal structure; see Figure 1b), we performed GCMC simulations using the MUSIC code⁶⁷ in an atomistically represented slit pore with a similar pore width. (See the Supporting Information for the simulation details and details of the carbon prototype used.) These simulations showed that storage capacities of up to 129 v/v (4.129 MJ/L) and 133 v/v (4.32 MJ/L) (both corresponding to excess adsorption, a quantity that can be measured experimentally) can be achieved in this type of pore at 298 K and pressures of 3.5 and 5 MPa, respectively. These values can be taken as realistic limits for this type of carbon pore for the storage of methane at 298 K. Although not practically correct, one can consider an extreme scenario in which the twodimensional carbon pore is bounded by only single graphitic planes (see eq 2 in the Supporting Information), in which case these values correspond to 282 and 290 v/v, respectively. (These values can be taken as theoretical upper limits for this particular carbon prototype.) Further, we noticed that, in this pore (a slit pore with H = 1.14 nm), the excess adsorption reached a maximum at 6.0 MPa, which means that it is theoretically possible to reach a volumetric adsorption capacity greater tha 290 v/v in carbon materials at 298 K. These values can at least provide some motivation and serve as milestones and target goals for experimental work. The theoretical values obtained for a slit-shaped narrow micropore (H = 1.14 nm)bounded by a single layer of graphene, which can typically hold up to two layers of methane, appear promising and provide some hope for reaching beyond the landmark value of 180 v/v and even attaining the DOE MOVE target of 266 v/v.

Despite the huge effort put forward by several research groups throughout the world, such values have not been obtained experimentally with any carbon material so far. This outcome also points to the concept that the new DOE MOVE target can be achieved only in a very low-density carbon framework, which is typically a carbon pore with the optimum pore size (H = 1.14 nm) bounded by single layer of graphene sheets. Although experimental results have confirmed that the already-high-surface-area carbon materials (materials with surface areas of >2600 m^2/g) cannot be pushed to the theoretical limit exceeding 200 v/v, some of the experimental values did surpass the estimated (theoretically obtained) realistic limits of 129 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 133 v/v at 5 MPa. To our knowledge, only one article published in a scientific journal (by Celzard and Fierro⁶⁸) has reported a value of storage capacity near the 2000 DOE target, 195 v/v (with a deliverable capacity of ~165 v/v), at 3.5 MPa and 293 K. Additional reports have been published elsewhere (194 v/v at 4 MPa and 298 K by Chaffee et al.⁶⁹ and 180 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 298 K by the group of Pfeifer⁴⁴). However, these values have not been independently verified or reproduced elsewhere. In any case, in some of these works,^{68,69} the analytical method used to obtain the volumetric storage capacity remains vague or at least not clearly reported, which obviously make these values

debatable. Apart from a few works reporting very high storage capacities of carbon materials, as a general case, irrespective of the method of preparation, activation precursors, and pore topology, carbon materials generally exhibit maximum storage capacities ranging from 150 to 160 v/v at room temperature and 3.5 MPa, and in all of these cases, the gravimetric storage capacity correlates linearly with the surface area or micropore volume of the material (Figure 2a,d).

The trend of methane storage capacity increasing with surface area and micropore volume clearly indicates that one possible route for increasing the storage capacity of carbon materials is to synthesize them with both of these properties improved, but also with a higher packing density. However, both of these aspects remain standing problems because of (i) the difficulty of generating higher surface areas from carbons with already-high surface areas (>2600 m^2/g) and (ii) the complexity associated with increasing the surface area without enlarging the micropore dimensions of the carbon materials. An additional practical problem is that, in many cases, the activated carbons with very high adsorption capacities for methane are in the form of fine powders and the volumetric capacity is calculated by measuring the density after compaction of the powders under pressure. Thus, the calculated volumetric capacity at the laboratory scale could then be considered as the practical limit for that particular carbon, but not the real one for practical onboard application. It should be highlighted that the actual carbon disks reported by Alcañiz-Monge et al.,⁵ Molina-Sabio et al.,³⁴ and Marco-Lozar et al.⁷⁰ are the conformed carbon materials with the highest methane adsorption capacities published to date, at over 160 v/v, although their actual deliveries were lower than 150 v/v.

Functionalization of the carbon surface is considered to be a promising design strategy for altering the adsorption capacity for a specific target molecule. In essence, the presence of surface functional groups alters the solid-fluid interactions, which ultimately either increases or decreases the binding energy of the target molecule with the carbon pore surface. Such efforts were carried out at the laboratory scale in the early 1990s. Cook et al.²¹ and Barton et al.⁷¹ determined the adsorption isotherms of a series of activated carbons that had had their surfaces oxidized to various degrees using a nitric acid treatment. No relationship between the degree of oxidization and the methane uptake could be determined. As a general case, they found that the presence of an oxidized surface decreased the overall binding energy between methane and the carbon atoms on the pore surface, thus lowering the methane uptake. Their results thus confirmed that the treatment of a carbon surface with nitric acid does not favor methane uptake. More recently, the adsorption of methane on graphene covered by titanium was studied using density functional theory (DFT) and molecular dynamics by Carrillo et al.⁷² They reported that the attractive forces between the Ti atoms and the H atoms in methane were large; however, it was not clear that the presence of Ti ions would enhance the natural gas storage capacity of a carbon structure at room temperature. Recently, Wood et al.⁷³ used ab initio DFT calculations to study methane adsorption on edge-functionalized model carbon structures. Their results showed that carbon edges functionalized with polar groups such as COOH, NH₂, NO₂, and H₂PO₃ would help increase the methane uptake. These controversial results can be explained if one considers the storage pressure and the pressure at which these functionalities take up guest molecules such as methane or any other gas molecule with similar fluid

properties. The functionalities introduced onto the carbon framework or surface often play a crucial role in increasing the binding energy at lower pressures, depending on the concentration and type of functionalities (and also the pore properties such as surface area and pore volume and even the pore structure). At higher pressures, the adsorption is instead dictated by the available pore volume, the pore structure, and the packing effects of the methane molecules within the available pore volume. For instance, DFT calculations are often performed with limited numbers of atoms, and thus, they can provide a reliable picture of the adsorption of guest molecules or the forces involved only at lower pressures. This explains the experimental observation of the negligible influence of functionalities on methane uptake under storage conditions (at p > 2 MPa). The discrepancies are also influenced by other effects such as a decrease in the available pore volume due to functionalization or a change in the surface curvature due to the inclusion of functionalized groups on the carbon surface. For instance, in an ultramicropore, introducing functionalities will significantly reduce the pore volume accessible for methane, whereas in a mesopore, introducing functionalities can improve the fluid-confining properties and thus the excess adsorption. Clearly, this issue can be resolved only by studying in detail a wide range of carbon materials with different pore structures and pore size distributions with different surface chemistries. A theoretical study performed on another class of porous materials by Düren et al.⁷⁴ using grand canonical Monte Carlo (GCMC) simulations showed that functionalization can improve the isosteric heat at lower loadings as well as the methane uptake at 3.5 MPa. At this stage, it is likely that highsurface-area carbons, which are known to have high edge-tographitic plane ratios, if synthesized to favor the presence of these functional groups, would probably increase their methane uptake values at 3.5 MPa. Additional experimental and theoretical studies are still needed to explore how this strategy can be useful in reaching the DOE target of 180 v/v at $p \ge 3.5$ MPa and 298 K.

Another interesting question is whether there might be any advantage in using curved graphenic surfaces for methane adsorption? In a confined pore with a curved graphene surface, as in the case of carbon nanotubes, with pore widths no greater than a few molecular diameters of methane, all of the carbon atoms in the perimeter of the tube will add to the interactions; thus, the attractive forces acting on the methane molecules are greater than on a flat graphitic surface as in a slit-shaped pore.⁴² In the case of slit-shaped pores, such effects can be noticed for methane only in narrow micropores, where the contributions from both pore walls add to the interactions; however, their open pore structure offers a relatively high accessible pore volume when compared to nanotubes where the pore structure is confined. Studies on the adsorption of methane in nanotubes are influenced by several design factors such as the tube geometry, chirality, structural defects, and spacing between tubes, which often explain the conflicting results that regularly appear in the literature. Due to the practical difficulties in controlling the pore geometry with experiments, molecular simulations are typically used by researchers to explain the influence of these design parameters on methane adsorption and the storage limits of carbon nanotubes.

Tanaka et al.⁷⁵ performed theoretical studies by nonlocal density functional theory (NLDFT) on the adsorption of methane at 303 K on a range of isolated single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) that differed in pore size and compared

their performance with idealized carbon slit-shaped pores of similar dimensions. They found that, on a weight basis, the total excess adsorption on the internal and external surfaces of an isolated SWCNT exceeded that for an idealized slit-shaped pore with the same dimensions, although the adsorption capacity in the interior of the SWCNT was lower than that for the slit pore geometry. Their results suggest that up to 20 wt % of methane (adsorption excess) can be stored in a nanotube with a pore size that can hold two layers of methane (a layer on the internal periphery plus a column of methane in the tube center). This work also emphasized, for the first time, a new physical insight that the fluid-fluid interactions between the molecules adsorbed on the internal and external surfaces of a tube to contribute significantly (by 2.7 wt % in a tube that can hold two layers of methane) to the overall adsorption capacity. The interesting results of Tanaka et al. were obtained with isolated nanotubes and might not represent a realistic value in the practical case of SWCNTs appearing in bundles. The work of Tanaka et al.⁷⁵ assumed the walls of the tubes and slit-shaped pores to be smooth rather than atomistic, which might also influence the ultimate storage capacity. It will be shown later in this review that the results obtained from molecular simulations performed in atomistically represented tubular arrays and slitshaped pores produce some results in clear conflict with Tanaka et al.'s description.

Cao et al.⁷⁶ used GCMC simulations to optimize an array of armchair SWCNTs arranged in a triangular shape for the storage of methane at room temperature. They found that the adsorption (excess) of methane in interstices plays a major role in the total volumetric and gravimetric capacities of nanotube arrays. Their studies further confirmed that this interstitial adsorption is highly dependent on the van der Waals (vdW) gap between the tubular arrays. An array of (15,15) SWCNTs separated by a vdW distance of 0.8 nm was found to be an ideal structure with volumetric and gravimetric storage densities of 216 v/v and 21.5 wt %, respectively, at 4.1 MPa and 298 K. They found that, in this ideal structure, the exohedral adsorption alone contributes 60% of the total methane adsorption. Their results suggest that, if synthesis strategies permit the precise tuning of the vdW distance between the tubes, then nanotubes could become a promising candidate for the storage of natural gas. In a theoretical study, Mahidzadeh et al.⁷⁷ showed that the interstitial adsorption process is tricky and varies with the tube size in addition to the distance between the tubes in a triangular array. They found that a volumetric storage capacity (excess adsorption) of up to 173 v/v (96% of the landmark value 180 v/v, if taken as the storage capacity instead of the delivery capacity) can be reached at 3.5 MPa and 298 K with an array of (14,14) nanotubes with a diameter of 1.9 nm separated by a vdW distance of 0.34 nm. Zhang and Wang⁷⁸ used GCMC simulations and DFT to study the adsorption of methane in an array of nanotubes with diameters of 2.04 and 4.077 nm arranged in a square lattice, with the tubes separated by a van der Waals distance of 0.334 nm (as in a typical graphitic pore). They found that, on a weight basis, the absolute adsorption (adsorption excess values were not reported) in the nanotubes, which are essentially mesoporous, was relatively higher than the adsorption in slit-shaped carbon pores, which are essentially microporous. An array of nanotubes with diameters of 4.077 nm was found to store up to 22 mmol/g (35 wt %) at 300 K and 6 MPa, whereas a slit pore with a pore width of 1.91 nm could store only up to 17 mmol/g (27 wt %) under similar temperature and pressure conditions.

All of these values obtained from theoretical studies seem encouraging for methane storage in SWCNTs, but so far, attempts to achieve or even approach such values using this class of materials have failed, and none of the carbon nanotubes synthesized in the laboratory have exhibited such high ideal adsorption capacities. The conflicts between theory and experiments are most probably due to the fact that the nanotubes used in experiments are far from ideal theoretical structures, as they are often distorted, contain mixtures of opened and unopened and single-walled and multiwalled nanotubes of various diameters and helicities. In a recent work, Delavar et al.54 claimed that, at the expense of temperature (283.15 K), gravimetric storage capacities as high as 52 wt % (33 mmol/g) (volumetric storage capacity and packing density were not reported) could be achieved with MWCNTs at 5.0 MPa. The group of Kaneko²⁸ reported a volumetric storage capacity of 160 v/v (delivery capacity not provided) for compressed single-walled carbon nanohorns at 3.5 MPa and 298 K, and this value still remains the highest value ever achieved experimentally with a conformed carbon material that has curved surfaces at the atomic level.

In addition to nanotubes, several hypothetical carbon structures with curved surfaces have been proposed in the literature, and their storage capacity have been evaluated using molecular simulations. All of these studies mostly aimed to propose or search for an ideal structure with curved surfaces that might exhibit some remarkable adsorption properties or safety aspects when compared to regular nanotubes. Most of these structures were computer-generated based on "theoretical thoughts" and thus deviated from experimentally realized structures such as SWCNTs or MWCNTs. Kowalczyk et al.⁷ reported a carbon pore with a wormlike structure that could store methane energy up to 5.4 MJ per liter of carbon at low to moderate pressures ranging from 1 to 7 MPa at 293 K. Vakshrushev and Suyetin⁸⁰ came up with a hypothetical bottlelike nanocapsule where the pore surface itself virtually acts as a high-pressure vessel that allows the safe storage of a large methane mass content at a relatively high pressure. The nanocapsule consists of two or more nanotubes combined together to form a bottlelike structure. The atomistically represented nanobottle was capped with an endohedral complex that was operated by an electric field. Molecular dynamic simulations showed that the nanobottle could retain approximately 17.5 wt % of methane at an internal pressure of 10 MPa and a temperature of 300 K.

Despite the several conflicting theoretical results claiming that nanotubes perform better than slit-shaped pores and vice versa and despite the frequently appearing concepts that claim the superiority of nanotubes for methane storage, ^{19,76,78} there are no conclusive reports that nanotubes, which are expensive, are better than other carbon-based materials such as activated carbons, ^{34,55,70} which are cheaper and easier to synthesize, especially at a large scale. In addition, the unique one-dimensional pore structure and low framework densities of nanotubes (when compared to a slit pore bounded by three graphene planes) do not seem to provide any additional advantages such as improved accessible volume, gravimetric storage capacity, or porosity when compared to activated carbons.

Does the effect of pore geometry play a role in methane storage capacity? It was already mentioned that the storage capacity in a porous material with slit-shaped porosity (as is the case for activated carbons) is larger than that in a solid with

cylindrical pores of identical dimensions (for instance, a zeolite). Although many theoretical and experimental studies focusing on the search for the best storage material are available in the literature, only very few have reported on the effects of pore structural characteristics or textural properties on the storage density of methane.^{33,37,81} Menon and Komarneni²⁶ showed that, regardless of the pore structure and morphology of the adsorbent, the storage capacity of methane correlates exclusively with the surface area and micropore volume. However, in a recent study, Delavar et al.^{54,82} noticed a strong influence of the pore morphology on the ultimate performance of carbonaceous materials in the case of methane storage. Their experimental adsorption isotherms for the three different temperatures of 283.15, 298.15, and 318.15 K demonstrated that a multiwalled carbon nanotube adsorbed more methane than a granular activated carbon (GAC) with a large surface area. The MWCNT (with an average value of H' > 4 nm) with a surface area 294 m²/g and pore volume of 0.623 cm³/g stored up to 33 mmol/g (52 wt %) at 5 MPa and 283 K, whereas the GAC with a surface area of 822 m^2/g and a pore volume of 0.66 cm³/g could store only up to 6.5 mmol/g under the same experimental conditions. The authors further claimed that the MWCNTs at room temperature and 3.5 MPa reached a gravimetric storage capacity as high as ~21.5 mmol/g (34.4 wt %), whereas the GAC could store only 5 mmol/g (8 wt %) under similar operating conditions.^{54,82} Such high storage capacity values for MWCNTs over activated carbons seem surprising, especially considering the restricted pore sizes of MWCNTs, the supercritical temperature of the fluid, and the accessible surface area/framework density ratio and lower accessible pore volume. Furthermore, no satisfactory arguments were put forward by the authors about why the MWCNTs adsorb better than activated carbons, although the authors mentioned that the superiority of MWCNTs is due to their smaller effective pore size and higher pore volume. Contesting the results of Delavar et al., a few other works pointed out that, even at the expense of high pressures of 7 and 10.5 MPa, MWCNTs that are essentially microporous can store only up to 4.48 wt % (2.8 mmol/g) and 11 wt %, respectively.^{38,62} Obviously, all of these works confirm the results that can detail the effects of pore structure on the adsorption capacity of natural gas are inconclusive and, in some cases, even controversial. The adsorption capacity of methane in curved structures estimated through simulations or experiments are influenced by multiple parameters, such as the number of walls that bound the porosity, surface irregularities, local C-atom vacancies, the size distribution of tubes, the presence of open-/ closed-end tubes, the diameter of the tubes, the distance between the neighboring tubes, the helicity, and the array geometry. All of these parameters demonstrate the difficulty of performing systematic experimental studies and make the results less tractable and comparable to results obtained from simulations.^{28,83} Surface curvature can improve the isosteric heat or pressure at which a fluid tends to fill the entire pore volume, as a methane molecule can experience interactions with a relatively greater number of carbon atoms than for a planar surface (as in graphene). Despite the fact that a higher isosteric heat can favor the uptake of methane at lower pressures (Henry region), it is the volume of methane that is adsorbed at storage pressures (\geq 3.5 MPa) that dictates the properties of the adsorbent for the onboard storage of natural gas. The curved surfaces in nanotubes, especially in micropores, affect the accessible pore volume of the carbon framework and, thus, the

amount of fluid confined within the pore volume (as a methane molecule adsorbed on one side of the pore surface will disturb the surface adsorption of a methane molecule on the opposite adsorption site). This also explains why there is no convincing evidence from either experiments or theoretical simulations to confirm that carbon frameworks with curved surfaces surpass activated carbons for the storage of methane at room temperature. Based on the works considered in this review, we observed (see Figure 2, where we show the adsorption of methane in carbon nanotubes as a function of their surface area^{38,62}) that nanotubes exhibit a low methane uptake when compared to other activated carbons with high surface areas. If one compares their performance with those of activated carbons of similar surface area, it can be understood that the curved surface and confined pore volume do not offer any interesting properties toward methane uptake. In some cases, even at the expense of pressure (11 MPa), nanotubes exhibit a very low methane adsorption capacity.³⁸ This is not a disheartening result, as the production of nanotubes often relies on expensive techniques such as arc discharge or chemical vapor deposition methods, whereas activated carbons are relatively easy to synthesize and economically cheaper than nanotubes.

As discussed in the next section, hopes of obtaining viable adsorbents for methane storage have recently focused on metal–organic frameworks (MOFs),^{47,84,85} as some recent studies apparently showed that MOFs could exceed the storage capacity of carbon-based materials. MOF structures combine very open scaffolding with unique high-energy sites; however, they suffer from several handicaps, including chemical and thermal instability, low packing density, and cost. For this reason, nanoporous carbon materials continue to be truly effective adsorbents if the appropriate structure, packing density, and pore size can be found. The results from GCMC simulations that we performed for this work showed that a slit pore with a pore width of H' = 0.8 nm (bound by one layer of graphene) can theoretically store (adsorption excess) up to 282 and 290 v/v at 3.5 and 5 MPa, respectively. These values are higher than the theoretical volumetric capacities of most of the MOFs synthesized to date. This can be explained if one considers the nature of the pore volume in an ideal slit pore and an MOF. MOFs are highly porous materials (~90% porosity), and this high porosity can benefit several applications in industrial processes; organic linkers that connect the metal node and built the entire framework are associated with several edge sites. Even though these edge sites can provide a remarkable surface area, the energy of interaction of guest molecules, such as methane, with the edge sites is lower than that of guest molecules on more planar surfaces such as graphene (as the number of carbon atoms associated with the interaction energy is higher). This effect will be even more pronounced in a microporous carbon structure, as the carbon atoms from both sides of the wall will add to the interactions, which ultimately increases the methane adsorption capacity.

To summarize, based on the works considered in this review, it is clear that even carbons with surface areas exceeding the surface area of ideal graphene with high levels of microporosity can hold only about 160 v/v, which is still below the 2000 DOE target and far below the DOE MOVE targets. This obviously shows the need for a proper adsorbent design strategy to achieve these targets. The correlations between the surface area and micropore volume of nanoporous carbons and the adsorption capacity of methane (Figure 2) clearly show that techniques such as improving the surface area do not offer any significant improvement in the methane uptake. Additionally, the idea of improving already-high surface areas does not seem to be a feasible option. One strategy that can improve the methane storage capacity is to synthesize carbon materials with pores that are bounded by exactly one layer of carbon atoms. Creating such a sophisticated carbon material in large quantities with a very high packing density and extremely low framework density is a very challenging task, especially with the available synthesis techniques. Another strategy is to improve the surface area and packing density simultaneously (in Figure 2c, we showed that such strategy can achieve the 2000 DOE target of 180 v/v), which is difficult to accomplish by chemical activation or physical activation techniques.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that targeting the sorbent level adsorbent capacity of the DOE MOVE goals (12.5 MJ/L at \leq 3.5 MPa and 298 K) in carbon-based materials would be a very difficult task, as it can only be achieved in a carbon structure that has a very low framework density, a material that contains pores bounded by only one layer of graphene sheet, and a high packing density. The feasibility of obtaining such a material with a desirable combination of these properties is still questionable. Thus, our suggestion for researchers, mainly experimentalists, is to reconsider the targets or relax the operating conditions (storage pressure can be pushed to a much higher pressure instead of 3.5 MPa) before making any further investments in material design.

5. METAL-ORGANIC FRAMEWORKS

Metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) are among the most fascinating recent developments in the class of nanoporous materials, with exceptional pore properties offering great promise for many applications, including natural gas storage. In essence, MOFs are porous (almost 90% porosity), crystalline sponges made up of metal or metal oxide "nodes" connected by organic "linker" compounds.⁸⁶ O'Keeffe⁸⁷ used the term "MOF" to include only materials with frameworks built by linking polyaromatic clusters (secondary building units) entirely by strong covalent bonds, and this does not include coordination polymers, which generally have some weaker bonds and lower stability. The vast numbers of metal clusters and organic linkers available for the synthesis of new MOF structures make it possible to build an unlimited number of solids with desired pore sizes and shapes plus functionalities to provide optimal host-guest interactions.⁸⁸ Kondo et al.⁸⁹ were the first to report the adsorption of methane in an MOF structure $[Co_2(4,4'-2,2'-bipyridine)_3(NO_3)_4.4H_2O]_n$ although this compound exhibited a very low gravimetric storage capacity for methane of 3.68 wt % at 3 MPa. The same research group later reported a new and novel threedimensional coordination polymer, $\{[CuSiF_6(4,4'-bpy)_2]\}$. $8H_2O_w$ which had a higher methane uptake of 10.42 wt % at 3.6 MPa (volumetric storage capacity and crystallographic density not reported).⁹⁰ In 1999, Li et al.⁸⁵ published the MOF structure $[Zn_4O(BDC)_3]$, also known as MOF-5, which exhibited an ultrahigh porosity (80%) and a remarkable surface area of 2900 m^2/g . The properties of MOF-5 in this work and the need for a porous material with a high surface area, plus the difficulties associated with increasing the already-high surface areas of carbon materials, sparked a flurry of both experimental and theoretical research over the past decade, most of the which focused on finding a material with excellent fuel (hydrogen and methane) storage properties.

From the experimental point of view, several thousand MOFs have been synthesized to date by several research groups worldwide. Some of them do not support permanent porosity and collapse in the absence of guest molecules such as solvents. The reported materials could be seen as only a tiny fraction of imaginable materials, considering the large variety of possible linkers and corner units and the possibility of postfunctionalizing the resulting MOFs.⁸⁸ The storage capacity of MOFs for methane has been reviewed several times in recent years by several researchers,^{45,46,91-94} and consequently, the scope of this review is restricted to considering only a short comprehensive review emphasizing the adsorption properties of some of the benchmark or milestone MOF compounds that showed promising natural gas storage values at room temperature. New concepts that need to be considered in the design of MOF adsorbents for the storage of natural gas are also included. Works that report on the MOFs with excellent storage capacities but at much lower temperatures (<280 K) are not considered here. However, a detailed literature analysis of the storage capacities of different MOFs can be found later in this section to emphasize the influence of the pore structure/ properties of MOFs on the ultimate storage capacity of methane at 298 K and 3.5 MPa. Additionally, some of the reported results from theoretical studies that support the findings derived from the experiments will be highlighted. To avoid confusion, experimentally reported MOF structures with excellent storage capacities are discussed first, followed by a special focus on theoretical results to support the reported experimental work and to emphasize the importance of the relationship between MOF structural properties and storage capacity.

Seki⁸⁴ was the first to demonstrate the apparently remarkable storage capacities of coordination polymers for methane at 298 K. This researcher synthesized novel three-dimensional metal complexes by a heterogeneous reaction between porous copper dicarboxylates and triethylenediamine (TED), [Cu- $(O_2 CRCO_2) \cdot \frac{1}{2} TED_n$ [R = 4,4'-C₆H₄C₆H₄ (1) or trans- $C_6H_4CH=CH(2)$, the latter (2) being recorded as the first ever to achieve a volumetric storage capacity for natural gas (with MOF structures) of up to 225 v/v. In terms of gravimetric storage capacity, this corresponds to 213 cm³ (STP)/g at 3.5 MPa and 298 K. However, such a high volumetric storage capacity is due to the high apparent density $(2, \sim 0.983 \text{ g/cm}^3)$ of the complex, which was obtained by mercury porosimetry. In addition, these materials (1 and 2) showed a combination of pore properties dictating their performance toward methane storage: (i) high surface areas $(3265 \text{ and } 3129 \text{ m}^2/\text{g});$ (ii) large pore volumes (1.18 and 1.07 cm^3/g), with effective pore sizes of 1.08 and 0.95 nm for 1 and 2 (microporous, with no mesoporosity), respectively; and (iii) bimodal pore size distributions with two types of adsorption sites having different adsorption potentials. In recent years, these estimated values were placed under debate and criticized, as the estimated apparent density was higher than even the calculated crystallographic density. Ma and Zhou⁴⁵ recalculated the volumetric capacity value for 2 considering its crystallographic density (0.80 g/cm^3) , and they found that it could store up to 175 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 298 K. Nevertheless, the remarkable storage capacity reported by Seki in 2001 must have inspired many researchers to work with coordination frameworks in an attempt to obtain the best candidate material for fuel $(H_2 \text{ or } CH_4)$ storage. All of these storage capacity values were obtained directly from adsorption experiments and, thus,

correspond to excess adsorption. In a frequently cited work of Eddaoudi et al.,95 a series of isoreticular MOF (IRMOF) compounds that had cubic porous structures but were functionalized with different groups were tested for their structural and gas adsorption properties. IRMOF-6 (crystallographic density = 0.65 g/cm^3), with an exceptionally high surface area and pore volume, exhibited a remarkable gravimetric storage capacity of 240 cm³(STP)/g (155 v/v) at 3.6 MPa and room temperature, the highest (gravimetric) value achieved with this class of materials at that point (2002). IRMOF-1 (also widely known as MOF-5) and IRMOF-3 exhibited volumetric storage capacities of 135 and 120 v/v, respectively, at 3.6 MPa; these values are impressive when compared to the storage capacities of other classes of crystalline materials such as zeolites $(87 \text{ v/v})^{26}$ and similar to values reported for many carbon adsorbents. The hydrophobic nature of the C₂H₄ units in IRMOF-6 favors methane adsorption, thus explaining its superior performance when compared to those of IRMOF-1 and IRMOF-3. To our knowledge, the work of Eddaoudi et al.,⁹⁵ which was published in 2002, seems to have been the first to report or define the volumetric storage capacity of methane based on the crystallographic density of MOF structures. In recent years, although several researchers have employed this definition, it is often criticized because it ignores the void spaces between the particles when MOFs are packed in an adsorbent storage tank, where the packing density is more realistic.

Inspired by an in silico-generated MOF structure, IRMOF-⁵ Ma et al.⁹⁷ synthesized a microporous metal-organic 993,⁹⁰ framework based on the anthracene derivative 9,10-anthracenedicarboxylate, which led to the ultramicroporous MOF PCN-13, which had a very limited methane storage capacity. In a follow-up study, they increased the pore size by employing the new ligand 5,5'-(9,10-anthracenediyl)di-isopthalate (adip) under solvothermal reaction conditions to obtain the new MOF PCN-14.47 This material recorded the highest-everachieved excess methane volumetric storage capacity of 220 v/v and a gravimetric storage capacity of 252 cm³/g at 290 K and 3.5 MPa, although the first value should be taken with care as, the crystallographic density was used to calculate the volumetric storage capacity, which is almost always larger than the more realistic packing density. Since the year 2008, PCN-14 has been considered and accepted by several researchers as a benchmark material to compare the performance of any MOF adsorbent for methane storage. Although the deliverable capacity of PCN-14 was not reported, the recorded excess adsorption was apparently 22% higher than the DOE's landmark value of 180 v/v at room temperature (because of the use of the crystallographic density for the estimation of the volumetric storage capacity). The highest storage capacity in this structure was associated with an isosteric heat, Q_{st} , of 30 kJ/mol. Although this value is lower than the Q_{st} values for some carbon-based materials,51 this seems to be the highest value recorded for this class (MOFs) of porous materials. A DFT study⁹⁸ showed that the binding energy at the open Cu sites is roughly 25 kJ/mol and that the bottom site of the small cage in PCN-14 has the highest binding energy of 32 kJ/mol, which probably explains the high isosteric heat achieved. Apart from the performance of this material in terms of its volumetric storage capacity, this work also focuses on the importance and role of the ligands in the methane storage capacity of MOFs.

Inspired by the high storage capacity of PCN-14, Wu et al.⁹⁹ carried out some preliminary studies in 2009 and reported that

the apparently impressive storage capacity of this material is due to the presence of coordinated unsaturated Cu ions. This conclusion was based on the fact that, if all open Cu sites were saturated with at least one CH₄ molecule, then it would give an adsorption capacity of 59, which is roughly one-quarter of the total adsorption capacity (at 290 K and 3.5 MPa). Motivated by this concept, they performed methane adsorption isotherm experiments on a series of isoreticular MOF compounds with metal ions of the form $M_2(dhtp)$ (open metal M = Mg, Mn, Co, Ni, Zn; dhtp =2,5-dihydroxyterepthalate). All of these MOFs had significantly higher densities of open metal sites in their crystal structures (4.5 sites/nm³) than PCN-14 (~1.6 sites/nm³). Thus, conceptually, these MOFs should perform better than or equal to PCN-14, or they should at least approach the DOE target. The adsorption isotherm results showed that the volumetric storage capacities (obtained using the crystallographic densities) of the M₂(dhtp) MOFs at 298 K and 3.5 MPa ranged from 149 to 190 v/v. The highest storage capacity of 190 v/v was recorded for one of the MOFs that contained Ni ions, and it was claimed to be the second best material (in the year 2009) for methane storage, next to PCN-14. Through neutron diffraction experiments, the authors confirmed that the metal sites were fully responsible for the high storage capacities of these M2(dhtp) MOFs, which is now considered to be the right strategy for the design of MOFs for methane storage.

In the same year (2009), Dietzel et al.¹⁰⁰ reported similar results based on the adsorption isotherms obtained for the series of MOFs $M_2(dhtp)(H_2O)_2 \cdot 8H_2O$ (CPO-27-M, M = Ni, Mg), which were selected because of their honeycomb structures, large micropores (1.1-1.2 nm), and the presence of open metal sites. These authors confirmed the results of Wu et al.⁹⁹ and reported that the metal sites play a major role in the adsorption of methane. Their estimations revealed that up to 1.73 CH₄ molecules are adsorbed on every Ni atom at 179 K and 1 MPa for the case of Ni₂(dhtp), whereas for the case of Mg₂(dhtp), at 179 K and 4 MPa, every Mg atom could take up to 1.68 molecules. Because adsorption is exothermic, these values are prone to decrease at room temperature (not reported). As in the results of Wu et al.,⁹⁹ the MOF containing Ni exhibited the best performance toward methane storage at 298 K. At 3.5 MPa, Ni₂(dthp) exhibited a volumetric storage capacity of up to 198 v/v when using the crystallographic density of the MOF framework compound (which was slightly higher than the values of Wu et al.). The same material was found to meet the 180 v/v goal at a much lower pressures of 2.0 MPa, whereas Mg₂(dhtp) comes close to this landmark value (169 v/v). Although the estimated delivery was not reported, the authors claimed that Ni₂(dhtp) already exceeded the DOE target by a significant amount; however, the problem of using the crystallographic density for their calculations should be realized.

In another closely related and more recent work, Guo et al.⁴⁸ used two strategies simultaneously to increase the storage capacity of MOF structures: (i) the immobilization of high-density open metal sites and (ii) the construction of suitable pore spaces within the MOF framework. The authors demonstrated this strategic concept with the MOF compound UTSA-20, which was synthesized by the solvothermal reaction of H₆BHB and Cu(NO₃)₂·2.5H₂O in *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF, 1.5 mL) with the addition of two drops of HBF₄ at 65 °C for 48 h to yield small green block-shaped crystals. The developed structure, which was formulated as [Cu₃(BHB)-

Chemical Reviews



Figure 3. (a) Gravimetric methane adsorption capacity at 3.5 MPa and 298 K versus BET surface area (teal diamonds, MOF structures with specific surface areas of $\leq 2500 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$; blue squares, MOF structures with specific surface areas of $\geq 2500 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$; orange circles, carbon-based materials). (b) Volumetric methane adsorption capacity at 3.5 MPa and 298 K versus BET surface area for different assumed values of packing efficiency, where X_d represents the packing density/crystal density (orange circles, $X_d = 1$; blue squares, $X_d = 1.25$; teal triangles, $X_d = 1.5$; lilac diamonds, $X_d = 2$). (c) Volumetric methane storage capacity at 3.5 MPa and 298 K versus pore volume (orange circles, MOFs with pore volumes of $\leq 0.92 \text{ cm}^3/\text{g}$; blue squares, MOFs with pore volumes of $\geq 0.92 \text{ cm}^3/\text{g}$; blue squares, MOFs with pore volumes of $\geq 0.92 \text{ cm}^3/\text{g}$; blue squares, All of the adsorption values correspond to adsorption excess. All of the adsorption values correspond to adsorption excess (except PCN-14, all the adsorption values correspond to the experiments performed at 298 K; adsorption value in PCN-14 was performed at 290 K).

 (H_2O)]·(DMF)₆(H₂O)_{2.5}, had a three-dimensional pore structure of zyg topology, with open Cu sites and optimal pore spaces that were formed by the self-assembly of the hexacarboxylate organic linker H_6BHB (H_6BHB = 3,3',3",5,5',5"-benzene-1,3,5-triylhexabenzoic acid) with the paddle-wheel Cu_2 -(COO)₄SBU (SBU = secondary building unit). They compared the performance of this structure with the performances of some of the benchmark MOFs (PCN-14, PCN-11, IRMOF-6) and found that, although UTSA-20 had a moderate surface area and pore volume (1156 m^2/g and 0.63 cm^{3}/g), the high density of the open Cu sites and the optimum pore size contributed to the high absolute volumetric methane storage capacity of 195 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 300 K. In terms of excess volumetric storage capacity, this equals 178 v/v at 300 K and 3.5 MPa, which is closer to the landmark value of 180 v/v, although they also used the crystallographic density instead of the packing density for their calculations. Although this value falls below the storage capacities of the best-performing MOFs, PCN-14 and Ni₂(dhtp),^{47,48,99} it apparently surpasses those of most of the best-performing materials in the MOF category^{92,95,101,102} and other classes of materials^{26,52,81} with similar surface areas and pore volumes. Computational

investigations revealed that the high adsorption capacity was favored by the open Cu sites and "linker channel sites", with channel-like pores present in this MOF framework. Simulations further revealed that the Cu sites contributed almost half (89 v/v) of the total storage capacity of UTSA-20 at 3.5 MPa and 298 K. The results of Dietzel et al.¹⁰⁰ and Guo et al.⁴⁸ clearly emphasize the importance of the presence of open metal sites and the optimum pore structure (a novel trinodal net of **zyg** topology) and pore size to reach the DOE target in this class of high-surface-area porous materials.

Another work that frequently appears in the literature of recent years is that of Furukawa et al.,¹⁰¹ in which they claimed that an MOF with a very high BET surface area can perform better at pressures higher than 3.5 MPa. Three MOF compounds with ultrahigh surface areas, namely, MOF-200 (4530 m²/g), MOF-205 (4460 m²/g), and MOF-210 (6240 m²/g), exhibited storage capacities of 446, 394, and 476 mg/g, respectively, at 298 K and 8 MPa; all of these materials exceeded the storage capacity of PCN-14, but at the expense of higher pressure. The authors claimed that the methane adsorption isotherms of these MOFs were almost linear up to 8 MPa, and using some simple extrapolation, they concluded

that these MOFs would favor a higher gravimetric adsorption capacity at higher pressures and could possibly perform better at CNG pressure (20 MPa). In any case, despite the impressive gravimetric storage capacities obtained at higher pressure (8 MPa), the volumetric storage capacities seemed to be too low even considering the assumption that the crystallographic density is equal to the packing density. For instance, the bestperforming MOF, MOF-210 with a surface area >6000 m^2/g , could only store up to 99 v/v at 8 MPa and 298 K, which is only 11% higher than the amount of methane stored in CNG at the same pressure (89 v/v). Despite the ultrahigh surface areas and the striking gravimetric adsorption capacities of these MOFs, their significantly lower volumetric storage capacities lead us to an important conclusion: Working toward a high surface area might not be the appropriate approach for reaching the DOE goal. Rather, focusing on finding the right balance among the pore volume, surface area, and packing density is a more promising strategy.

In an attempt to determine where and how methane is stored in some of the MOFs that apparently have outstanding methane storage properties, Wu et al.⁹⁸ carried out a systematic study of the high-storage-capacity MOF compounds HKUST-1, PCN-11, and PCN-14 using a combination of different techniques: (i) neutron diffraction measurements, (ii) grand canonical Monte Carlo simulations, and (iii) density functional theory calculations. Although HKUST-1 does not exhibit very inspiring methane adsorption properties, it is one of the most studied MOF compounds for the adsorption of other gases such as N_2 , H_2 , and CO_2 .¹⁰² These three MOF compounds were selected by Wu et al. because, structurally, they contain the same dinuclear $Cu_2(CO_2)_4$ "paddle-wheel" cluster but different organic linkers with cagelike pore structures, different sizes, and different geometries. This strategy allowed them to study the roles of pore structure and linker functionality in methane adsorption. They found that the high adsorption capacities of these materials are due to two types of strong adsorption sites: (i) the open metal (Cu) coordination sites, which enhance the Coulombic attraction toward methane, and (ii) the van der Waals potential pocket sites, in which the total dispersive interactions are enhanced due to the molecule being in contact with multiple "surfaces". According to that work, the rational development of new materials for the storage of methane should focus on (i) enriching the open metal sites, (ii) increasing the percentage volume of accessible cages and channels, and (iii) minimizing the fraction of large pores.

Is there any simple relation that correlates the physical pore properties of the MOF structure with the storage capacity under the conditions specified by DOE (3.5 MPa and 298 K)? Most of the studies highlighted above propose various strategies to improve the storage capacity of MOFs by designing the pore topology, tuning the pore volume and surface area, and increasing the isosteric heat, among other strategies. Despite these factors, as a general rule, most results reported in the literature rely on the approach of improving the surface area as the key factor in enhancing the storage capacity. Apart from the conclusion derived from the adsorption isotherms in the discussed works, some of the theoretical reults showing snapshots obtained during the adsorption of methane in different MOF structures clearly indicate that structures with pores of a size that can hold one or two layers of methane exhibit the highest adsorption capacities, which is analogous to the pore size of carbon-based materials recommended for methane storage a few years earlier.¹⁶ This

implies that no (highly dense) multilayer adsorption can be expected to occur in MOF structures at room temperature, at least when the pressure is p = 3.5 MPa. Thus, a linear correlation between the surface areas of MOF materials and their gravimetric storage capacities should likely exist. We tried to verify this concept in this review by plotting the storage capacities of different MOFs as a function of the pore properties. Such plots should help to trace or identify the practical limit for the storage capacity as a function of the pore properties, such as surface area and pore volume, in addition to the relationship that might exist between these parameters and the storage capacity. Figure 3a includes plots of the amount adsorbed (mg/g) at 3.5 MPa as a function of surface area for different MOF structures with a wide range of pore properties, as reported by several research groups in the past 10 years. Because volumetric storage capacity is not a property of the material, given that it depends on the packing density and the efficiency of packing, only the gravimetric methane storage capacity as a function of surface area is considered.

Figure 3a clearly shows that, despite the different pore properties, such as the presence of open or coordinated metal sites, pore width, and pore size, the storage capacity fairly increases with increasing surface area. Figure 3a also shows that increasing the surface area above 2500 m^2/g does not increase the amount adsorbed by a significant amount at 3.5 MPa, although some of these high-surface-area materials (for example, the MOFs in the work of Furukawa et al.¹⁰¹) are prone to hold more methane, but at the expense of higher pressures (p > 5 MPa). Typically, these high-surface-area MOFs (>2500 m^2/g) have larger pore sizes and pore volumes (in Figure 3a, the pore volumes of some of these high-surfacearea MOFs are provided), where methane molecules typically experience weak interactions with surface atoms and can experience a stable position only at much higher pressures, typically >3.5 MPa. Although, the presence of open metal ions increases the adsorption capacity at lower pressures, they do not seem to result in any significant improvement in the adsorption capacity at 3.5 MPa, because at this pressure, the excess adsorption is just proportional to the surface area, irrespective of other factors. Increasing the specific surface area beyond 2500 m^2/g does not seem to provide enough scope for improving the storage capacity, as above this value, we observed only a very slight increase in storage capacity (almost linear with a slope equal to 0.0039; see the trend of the blue line in Figure 3a). For comparison, the excess adsorption of carbonbased materials as a function of their BET surface areas is also plotted in Figure 3a. It is interesting to note that the gravimetric adsorption capacity as a function of surface area was found to be almost independent of the class of materials considered in this review. In the case of carbon-based materials, there is a lack of synthesis strategy that allows the improvement of the surface area (>4000 m^2/g) of carbons equivalent to some of the highsurface-area MOFs, as the available high-surface-area carbon materials are already equal to or beyond the limit of the surface area of an ideal graphene sheet (2630 m^2/g). This creates a practical difficulty when comparing the performances of highsurface-area MOFs with those of carbon-based materials. Despite these known facts, the projection in Figure 3a helps to safely conclude that there exists a limit ($\sim 2500 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$) up to which the surface area dictates the methane storage capacity at 3.5 MPa, irrespective of the class of porous materials considered here (MOFs or carbon-based materials). It should be noted that the adsorption capacity of PCN-14 (at 290 K), which holds the record for the highest volumetric storage capacity, is highlighted in Figure 3a; although if the adsorption is expressed on a weight basis (Figure 3a), its performance appears to be quite ordinary and comparable to those of other MOF structures. This means that the density of the storage material is the clue to the apparently high storage, and this value cannot always be clearly defined or measured, because almost all authors use the crystallographic density of MOFs instead of the packing density, as would be used in a practical application. For the convenience of readers, Figure 3a also highlights some of the benchmark MOF compounds and their pore volumes.

Plotting the excess volumetric storage capacity versus the pore volume or surface area (Figure 3b,c) leads to the same conclusion as above. Figure 3b,c indicates that the excess amount adsorbed is proportional to the MOF surface area and/ or pore volume until it reaches an "optimum value", after which, irrespective of the high surface area of the MOF structures, there is no significant increase in the excess adsorption at 3.5 MPa and 298 K. According to Figure 3b,c, this optimum surface area and pore volume value lie roughly within the ranges of $1750-2000 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ and $0.8-0.95 \text{ cm}^3/\text{g}$, respectively. Increasing the pore volume above this range (irrespective of the surface area of the solid frameworks) decreases the excess adsorption, as methane molecules tend to fill the pore volume with a gaslike density after surface adsorption. In larger pores, as analogues to the experimental results reported for the case of carbon materials, the interactions between methane and the metal sites or linker molecules on the MOF structures are too weak to expect any multilayer adsorption or fluid condensation of methane at 3.5 MPa and 298 K. While this article was in preparation, Simon et al.¹³⁸ reported a similar conclusion based on the large-scale screening of 650000 materials including MOFs, zeolites, porous polymer networks, and zeolitic imidazolate frameworks for the adsorptive storage and delivery of methane. They screened the MOFs based on their deliverable capability, which is simply the amount of methane stored at 65 bar minus the adsorption of methane stored at 5.8 bar at 298 K. They found that there exists a maximum for surface area and pore volume for the optimal delivery of methane at 298 K. They also declared that it might be practically impossible to reach the targets identified by the DOE MOVE program. It is worth mentioning here the very recent work of Mason et al.,¹³⁹ who observed pressure- and temperature-induced framework flexibility during the adsorption of methane in two different MOFs, namely, Co(bdp) and Fe(bdp). Such materials can obviously deviate from the relationship between the amount adsorbed and the material properties (shown in Figure 3). Pressure-induced framework flexibility is usually associated with adsorption hysteresis. In any case, none of the materials considered in this review exhibited such framework flexibility at 3.5 MPa and 298 K or adsorption hysteresis.

The presence of open metal sites in MOFs is considered to be one of the design strategies for increasing the adsorption performance of these structures; however, Figure 3a-c clearly indicates that, to meet the U.S. DOE target, the ideal material for storing methane should be one that has the right balance among surface area, pore volume, and packing density, irrespective of other design strategies. It can be clearly deduced that the high volumetric storage capacities published for many MOFs are only due to the use of the crystallographic density in the calculations. Thus, the design strategies for MOFs should focus on tuning the surface areas and pore volumes of the materials to obtain the optimum values simultaneously, without compensating any of these parameters to improve the storage capacity for methane. This conclusion is in agreement with those obtained from the GCMC simulations carried out by Wang,¹⁰³ who studied the adsorption properties of 10 different MOF structures with the aim of establishing the most desired properties of an optimal adsorbent for methane storage. He found that, although a high isosteric heat of adsorption, low framework density, high specific surface area, and high free volume are desirable for a better storage capacity, there exists a complex interplay among these parameters that influences the ultimate adsorption capacity. Despite these facts, the accessible surface area and free volume seem to play decisive roles in the storage capacity at 3.5 MPa and 298 K. It is worth emphasizing the value of the presence of open metal sites in improving the isosteric heat of adsorption, thus significantly increasing the amount of methane adsorbed at lower pressures. The study of Wang also highlighted this trend through a linear relationship between the amount adsorbed at lower loadings and the isosteric heat of adsorption.¹⁰³ In fact, a DFT study revealed that methane molecules adsorb first on the open metal sites.⁹ The isosteric heat of PCN-14 at a lower loading (0.1 mmol/g) was near 30 kJ/mol, because of the strong binding energy of methane to the open metal sites, but it decreased to 25 kJ/mol at intermediate loadings (0.5-1 mmol/g).⁹⁹ In a theoretical study performed with a new force field for CH₄/PCN-14 systems (adjusted to improve the fitting between the experimental and simulated isotherms), it was shown that the open metal sites increased the overall binding energy of PCN-14 by a significant amount only at 150 K, but not at higher temperatures (290 K),¹⁰⁴ supporting the arguments stated above.

How far can these novel MOFs be pushed to reach the 2000 DOE target (adsorption or deliverable capacity of 180 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 298 K)? Most MOF structures described in the literature exhibit storage capacities ranging from 50 to 160 v/ v.^{101,102} As an extraordinary case, PCN-14 has a very high volumetric capacity of 220 v/v, apparently beating every other porous material.⁴⁷ As already mentioned, although MOFs exhibit high volumetric storage capacities, almost all reported values have been obtained by converting the gravimetric capacity to a volumetric capacity by using the crystallographic density rather than packing density, and most of these works further claimed that MOFs outperform other classes of materials, for instance, activated carbons. As noted throughout this section, such estimations are not realistic and assume that the MOF materials will fill the fuel tank to form a single bulk crystal, ignoring the fact that the effective packing density is much lower because of the existence of voids between particles. Senkovska and Kaskel¹⁴⁰ recently reported that the crystallographic density can vary from the packing density for some MOFs by at least a factor of \sim 2. This is the first work and most probably the only one appearing in the literature in recent years claiming the superiority of an MOF material, Cu₃(btc)₂, based on the volumetric storage capacity obtained using the packing density. The authors found that Cu₃(btc)₂ could store up to 228 v/v but only at the expense of higher pressures (15.0 MPa). It is worth mentioning that, at such high pressures, storage capacities of up to 178 v/v can be reached by CNG, without the expense of any adsorbent. In any case, the work of Senkovska and Kaskel clearly emphasizes that the practical limit of MOF materials are far from the volumetric storage capacity values estimated using the crystallographic density. A study by

Peng et al.¹⁴¹ also highlighted this particular issue. In particular, Peng et al. measured the methane adsorption isotherms in a series of packed polycrystalline HKUST-1 materials with different packing densities. They found that decreasing the packing density of HKUST by a factor of 2 with respect to its ideal crystalline density also decreased the excess volumetric uptake by a factor of 2 with respect to the ideal performance of HKUST.

If one assumes that the findings reported in the works of Peng et al. and Senkovska and Kaskel hold true for every other MOFs, then the volumetric capacities of the MOFs (including PCN-14) estimated using the crystallographic density can be taken only as the upper limits for the apparent volumetric storage capacities that can be attained in these materials. A word of caution should be introduced here: If the crystallographic density were used for porous carbons (up to 2.26 g/ cm³), then the corresponding volumetric storage capacity would be 3-4 times larger than if the packing density (well over 500 v/v for the best carbons described in the previous section) were used. A strategic study of this particular issue was performed by Sun et al.,¹⁴² who stressed the fact that the crystallographic and packing densities should not be confused. The volumetric storage capacities of MOF structures reported by several research groups are plotted in Figure 3b as a function of surface area. The surface area in the plot is taken only as a reference to represent the MOF structures, and it should be remembered that volumetric storage capacity is not a property of the material. Figure 3b shows the volumetric storage capacities of different MOF structures for different assumed values of packing density. The packing density, d_{packing}, was assumed to be lower than the actual crystallographic density, d_{crystal} , by roughly a factor X_d , where X_d ranges from 1.25 to 2 $(d_{\text{packing}} = d_{\text{crystal}}X_{\text{d}})$. The trend lines are shown to illustrate (as a guide to the eye) the difference in the magnitudes of the results obtained for different values of X_d . The projected estimations show some interesting facts. Even if an effective packing density of up to 80% is reached ($X_d = 1.25$), the performance of most of the MOFs falls into the range of 80-130 v/v, which is lower than the values obtained for some of the promising conformed high-surface-area activated carbons.^{18,36,55,70} Again, these estimated values assume that packing/compression of an MOF does not affect the porosity of the material. These estimated values could probably be taken as the practical limit of these materials for methane storage at 3.5 MPa, yet this needs to be experimentally verified. Even PCN-14, which has a fascinating pore structure and properties with van der Waals potential pockets, and other MOFs with open metal sites cannot outperform other classes of porous materials such as carbon, and none of them seems to be able to meet the milestone of 180 v/v.

On the theoretical side, molecular simulations have been used to characterize MOFs, to predict their methane adsorption properties and to gain insights into the adsorption process at a molecular level under the desired experimental conditions. Düren et al.⁹⁶ performed GCMC simulations to investigate the characteristic adsorption of methane in several computer-generated IRMOFs, molecular squares, zeolites, MCM-41, and carbon nanotubes. Their results suggested that the surface area favors the methane storage capacity, in addition to pore volume, framework density, and adsorbent/methane interactions. They also proposed new (and not synthesized at that time) IRMOF structures having 1,4-tetrabromobenzenedicarboxylate and 9,10-anthracenedicarboxylate as linker molecules.

Simulations showed that these structures should exhibit very high methane storage capacities when compared to that of IRMOF-6,⁹⁵ one of the promising materials for methane storage existing at that time. Specifically, using 9,10-anthracenedicarboxylate as the linker molecule resulted in a material, IRMOF-993, with a crystallographic density of 0.81 g/ cm³ that exhibited a theoretical storage capacity of 181 v/v, with an isosteric heat adsorption of 15.48 kJ/mol. This work set the inspiration and showed the synthesis path leading to the development of two other MOF compounds, PCN-13 and PCN-14, whose adsorption properties were discussed earlier in this section.^{47,97} The initial study of Düren et al. demonstrated the power of computational tools to provide an idea of how to synthesize a material that would provide better performance for a desired application.

Inspired by the computational studies of Düren et al., Thornton et al.¹⁴³ proposed a hypothetical MOF structure (Mg-C60@MOF) in which a magnesium-decorated fullerene is incorporated into an MOF structure. The hypothetical material was generated relying on the concept of placing a fullerene doped with metal ions that has a low surface area but high heat of adsorption for methane into intimate contact with an MOF of high surface area and moderate binding energy for methane. This, in turn, would increase the overall binding energy or solid potential of the resulting structure for enhanced methane adsorption. Despite the void spaces taken by the fullerene, its impregnation in IRMOF-8, to give Mg-C60@IRMOF-8 (crystallographic density not reported), provided a remarkable methane uptake value of 265 v/v, the highest reported value achieved with a hypothetical material at that time. This value surpassed the 180 v/v landmark by a significant amount (47%). Despite this remarkable storage capacity value, the path to realize such materials experimentally is not clear and has yet to be explored.

In recent years (following the work of Düren et al.⁹⁶), computational studies have advanced sufficiently to generate several "thought" structures of metal-organic frameworks from a given chemical library of building blocks and metal clusters in silico. In principle, these structures are assembled automatically using computers to generate unlimited numbers of MOFs, although a significant amount of human intuition and investment is required to synthesize these materials experimentally. Most of these efforts are aimed at generating structures with high surface areas and appropriate pore properties that would exhibit high storage capacities for methane. Wilmer et al.¹⁴⁴ generated 137953 hypothetical MOF structures from a library of 102 building blocks. They further calculated the pore size distributions and surface areas and performed a large-scale computational screening of these materials by testing the methane storage capacities (at 3.5 MPa) of all of these structures. They identified over 300 MOFs with potential storage capacities exceeding the performances of the best-performing or well-established MOF compounds. The most promising hypothetical MOF was predicted to store ~267 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 298 K, which is slightly higher than the value reported for Mg-C60@MOF by Thornton et al.¹⁴³ Apart from these inspiring results, the authors also estimated a structure-property relationship, which clearly indicated that (i) increasing the surface area beyond the optimal point, 2500- $3000 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$, only worsens the methane storage capability and (ii) pore volumes larger than the optimal value again decreases the methane storage capacity. These results seem to be in reasonable agreement with the interpretations made earlier

based on the experimentally obtained data reported in the literature (see Figure 3a) and also with the results reported more recently by Simon et al.¹⁴⁵ based on a large-scale computational study of methane uptake in different classes of porous materials.

To our knowledge, although MOFs are known for their high porosities , no MOF has been claimed to have an ultrahigh surface area compatible with a pore size distribution that is essentially narrow and microporous, with a pore size typically equivalent to twice the diameter of the methane molecule. The results of Wilmer et al.'s study¹⁴⁴ indicate the need for a synthesis protocol that incorporates chemical intuition and synthesis experience and, in turn, creates many possibilities for researchers to develop new MOF structures with better pore structures and adsorption properties in the years to come.

Before we summarize this section, it is important to emphasize that, although the DOE target (delivery of 180 v/ v at 298 K and 3.5 MPa) could sometimes be considered as only a yardstick, it is useful to compare the performance of any porous material for the storage of methane typically at 3.5-5 MPa versus CNG at 20-25 MPa, even if the values published are expressed in terms of excess adsorption. Thus, to make comparisons among different materials easier, in the future, adsorption results obtained for new MOF structures should be reported in terms of both the gravimetric and volumetric storage capacities at 298 K and 3.5 MPa (or at higher pressures) and always using the packing density of the adsorbent. To verify the potential of a developed material for practical usage, researchers should report the volumetric storage capacity obtained using the true packing density rather than using the crystallographic density. Furthermore, the micropore volume should be correlated with the volume of the vessel and not simply with the unit mass of the solid framework, making the packing density more relevant than the crystallographic density. The packing density is as important as the micropore volume and surface area, and thus, this parameter cannot be simply ignored in the design and evaluation of the performance of any adsorbent for the storage of natural gas. It must also be mentioned here that ANG is not yet commercialized to the same level as CNG and reporting the volumetric storage capacity obtained using the crystallographic density does not answer how much a material would fill an onboard fuel storage tank for the aforementioned reasons. Instead, it merely introduces a difficulty in comparing reported results for other classes of materials. Despite the huge investment in research and the extensive literature available on natural gas storage in MOFs, it is still not clear how well MOFs really perform when compared with other classes of materials such as activated carbons, for which the storage capacities are commonly obtained using the packing density. Research reported about the volumetric adsorption capacities of MOFs based on the packing density leads to a disheartening conclusion. 140 At 303 K, even at the cost of a high pressure, the high-BET-surface-area MOFs Cu₃(btc)₂ (1502 m²/g), $Zn_2(bdc)_2(dabco)$ (1448 m²/g), and MIL-101 (2693 m²/g) reached maximum excess volumetric storage capacities of only up to 59 v/v (at 7.5 MPa), 104 v/v (at 7.5 MPa), and 122 v/v (at 12.5 MPa), respectively. Their deliverable capacities were even lower, and the storage performances at 3.5 MPa for methane could hardly reach the storage capacity values of any other class of crystalline materials, for instance, zeolites.²¹ PCN-14 undoubtedly holds the record for the highest methane storage capacity at 3.5 MPa (using crystallographic density),

but this reported uptake was measured at 290 K, and thus, its storage capacity at 298 K should be even lower, making the comparison of its performance with those of other materials at 298 K difficult. Earlier, Sun et al.¹⁴² made the effort to predict the storage capacity of PCN-14 at 3.5 MPa and 298 K by extrapolating the reported results of Ma et al.47 at different temperatures and found that PCN-14 could store up to 180 v/v at 298 K. In terms of gravimetric storage capacity, this value corresponds to 207 cm^3/g . Assuming that an effective packing density of up to 80% could be reached and assuming that compression of the material does not affect the adsorption properties or fluid permeability, a rough estimate indicates that PCN-14 can store up to 144 v/v, a value comparable to those of most other MOFs and carbon-based materials. On the other hand, PCN-14 is being considered as a benchmark material for comparing the performances of MOFs or other classes of materials for methane storage. Thus, the storage properties of this material for methane should be verified individually, and the true packing density should be measured. In a simulation study¹⁴⁴ performed on a pseudo-MOF structure, NOTT-107, which has a structure similar to that of PCN-14, it was shown that the predicted storage capacity of this material at 290 K is much lower than the experimentally obtained results. Thus, these aspects should be analyzed in detail in the future to clarify the adsorption properties of this or other MOF structures or other classes of porous materials in general for practical applications. Apart from searching for the best material for methane storage, research is also needed to define a probable relationship between the structure and properties, emphasizing the effects of ligands, functionality, open metal sites, framework density, surface area, and pore volume on the adsorption properties (for methane or for other gas molecules).

Because of the ultrahigh surface areas of some MOF structures; the available theoretical knowledge at the molecular level; the flexibility to design and tune the pore topology, pore size, and isosteric heat of adsorption (although very challenging); the available room for exploration; and the immense amount of research being carried out in several stages at a skyrocketing pace from pioneering researchers worldwide, it is most likely to expect a conformed MOF material in the near future that exceeds the 2000 DOE target and can be considered as a potential onboard natural gas carrier. In any case, the possibility of obtaining an MOF structure (conformed material, such as a monolith) that can surpass the DOE MOVE target might be questionable. Considering the similarity in trends between the physical properties of carbons and MOFs and their storage capacities, if an MOF with a unique pore geometry is developed that comes close to the DOE target, the properties of such materials might also dictate the pore properties required for the high storage of natural gas that can be used as a design strategy for the synthesis of other classes of porous materials (for instance, carbon) and vice versa. To emphasize this point again, to date, a considerable amount of research has been reported on the adsorption capacity of methane. Despite the large number of MOFs synthesized and the fascinating properties being realized, at this stage, it is only possible to speculate on their practical usefulness as onboard natural gas carriers, as most works report the volumetric adsorption capacity using the crystallographic density, ignoring the most important parameter, namely, the "packing density". Thus, at least in the nearest future, we expect and recommend that researchers report adsorption capacities based on both

crystallographic and packing densities to assert their practical usefulness as onboard natural gas carriers.

6. STORING METHANE AS CLATHRATES IN MOISTENED CARBON

Gas hydrates or clathrates are solid, nonstoichiometric compounds of small gas molecules trapped inside cages of hydrogen-bonded water molecules.¹⁴⁶ Clathrate hydrates are formed when a small guest molecule such as methane (which is the topic of interest in this work) contacts water, typically at temperatures less than ambient temperature (near 0 °C) and moderate pressures (>6.0 MPa). Among other important scientific and industrial contexts, such hydrates that can enclathrate guest molecules seem impressive when considered as fuel storage and transport media. For comparison, the concentration of a nonpolar gas such as methane in the solid hydrate lattice is about 2 orders of magnitude higher than the solubility of the same gas in liquid water.¹⁴⁷ The three main crystal structures of clathrates are called structure I (sI), structure II (sII), and hexagonal structure (sH), and they contain cages of different sizes dictating the sizes of the trapped guest molecules. Methane is believed to be the primary guest component of gas hydrates of types sI and sII, as the water cages are large enough to hold methane molecules, but other structures do occur at higher pressures, typically above 5.0 MPa.¹⁴⁸ In the case of methane, sI hydrates can store one molecule for every six molecules of water, an extremely high value when compared to its solubility in water (one molecule of methane in 4000 water molecules).¹⁴⁶ Both the sI and sII structures have cages made of 12 planar pentagonal faces; sI contains both smaller cages (denoted 5^{12}) and larger cages (denoted $5^{12}6^2$), whereas the sII structure contains larger cages (denoted $5^{12}6^4$). These two hydrate structures have average cavity radii in the ranges of 0.395-0.473 and 0.391-0.473 nm, respectively, which is sufficient for holding methane molecules. The energy densities of hydrates are approximately the same as that of compressed gas, but lower than the energy density of LNG. If 100% of the cavities are filled with methane, then 1 m^3 of methane hydrate contains up to $\sim 180 \text{ m}^3$ of methane gas at STP, which is comparable to the energy density of methane gas compressed at 298 K and 15.2 MPa (STP). This energy content per unit cell remains the same for all three hydrate structures as, when filled, all three of these structures contain 85% water molecules and 15% methane molecules.¹⁴⁷ The ability to liberate such a substantial amount of energy makes hydrates ideal candidates for the storage of natural gas. It was already confirmed in recent years that storing methane as frozen hydrate is a practical and promising approach for the large-scale transport of methane fuel gas over long distances.¹⁴⁹ The tempting energy content (per unit cell) of hydrates, the possibility of exploiting the propertyies of hydrates to use them as fuel storage container, together with the practical difficulties in reaching the DOE storage capacity target, even with ultrahigh-surface-area adsorbents, all together forced researchers to find an alternative concept for storing methane gas as hydrates within moist carbon porosity. This concept relies on a reasonable strategy focused on improving the properties of a carbon structure that already has a large storage capacity by creating additional porosity through an external medium (force) during the process of adsorption, where methane molecules can adsorb in excess to the amount already adsorbed by physisorption alone. The natural tendency of water to form cages in the presence of methane at low temperatures acts as an

additional medium or in other words like virtual porosity where methane molecules are trapped, which could ultimately increase the adsorption capacity. The equilibrium pressure of methane in water given in Table 2 indicates that there exists an inverse

Table 2. Equilibrium Pressures of Methane Hydrates atDifferent Temperatures154

T(K)	$p_{\rm eq}~({ m MPa})$	$p_{\rm f}^{a}$ (MPa)	$p_{\text{inflection point}}$ (MPa)		
275	3.2	4.6	>4		
277	3.9	5.3	>5		
279	4.8	6.2	>6		
281	5.9	7.3	~7		
283	7.4	8.8	>7.5		
'Obtained assuming a pore diameter of ~1.9 nm.					

relation between temperature and the genuine hydrateformation pressure. Methane hydrates within the wetted carbon pore structures can be expected to occur above the equilibrium pressure (allowing sufficient induction time), and their enormous energy contents will ultimately increase the excess adsorption of methane in carbon (host) structures.

Okui et al.,¹⁵⁰ in a U.S. patent, were the first to attempt to confirm this concept experimentally. They performed methane adsorption isotherm experiments at 30 °C on activated carbon with already-adsorbed water (0.259 g of water/g of carbon); the carbon had a surface area of 1765 m^2/g , with an average pore diameter of 1.13 nm and a pore volume of 0.971 cm³/g. They found that 1 cm³ of wetted activated carbon at STP could store up to 191, 203, 271, 290, and 326 cm³ of methane at pressures of 0.07, 0.15, 0.5, 1.0, and 2.0 MPa, respectively. The storage capacity of 191 v/v at subatmospheric pressure would be remarkable because such a very high storage capacity has never been achieved with any moderate- or ultrahigh-surface-area porous materials even at much higher pressures. Such a huge storage capacity for methane in water-adsorbed carbon micropores at subatmospheric pressures and 30 °C was also later reported in a scientific article by Miyawaki et al.¹⁵¹ The results of Miyawaki et al. showed that a microporous carbon with preadsorbed water (P20) can store more than 100 mg of methane/g of carbon even at pressures of less than 0.1 MPa and, furthermore, that this storage capacity changed with the fraction of pore volume filled by preadsorbed water molecules, ϕ_{w} . For $\phi_{w} = 0.28$ and 0.40, P20 adsorbed more than 100 and 180 mg of methane/g, respectively, at 0.1 MPa. The same carbon, when not preadsorbed with water, stored only 125 mg of methane/g of carbon, even at the cost of higher pressure (10 MPa). The amount stored was found to increase linearly with increasing ϕ_w until $\phi_w = 0.4$, suggesting the formation of a stable water-methane compound in the ratio (stoichiometry) of $CH_4/H_2O = 1:2$. Based on this unusual CH_4/H_2O stoichiometry, the authors suggested the formation of stable nanohydrates with a new structure. Despite the striking results, the authors did not document or provide any further evidence for this system (P20) or other similar systems. In another study, Perrin et al.¹⁵² noticed the same unusual CH₄/H₂O stoichiometry. However, they inferred that such nanohydrates could occur in micropores, as methane is preferentially adsorbed on the pore walls of micropores as a result of the strong potential experienced from the opposing walls. In this case, water molecules might be confined near the CH₄ molecules within the available carbon (micro)pore space, trying to build incomplete hydrate cages, resulting in

nanohydrates with extreme stoichiometries such as $CH_4 \cdot 2H_2O$. Nevertheless, these works clearly led to the striking conclusion that hydrates can significantly improve the storage capacity of a porous carbon material and that the water in porous carbons acts somewhat similarly to a catalyst, probably promoting the formation of hydrates even at subatmospheric pressures and room temperature, far from classical conditions.

Aiming to understand and reproduce the striking results reported in the works of Okui et al.¹⁵⁰ and Miyawaki et al.,¹⁵¹ Zhou et al.¹⁵³ performed adsorption isotherm experiments at 273 and 298 K and pressures up to 10 MPa on a coconut-shellbased activated carbon with a surface area and pore volume of 1800 m^2/g and 1.5 mL/g, respectively. They carried out adsorption isotherm experiments on both dry and moistened carbons with different levels of moisture content, ranging from 0.096 to 26.06 mmol of H_2O/g of dry carbon. Their results challenged the above-reported works in the following respects: (i) There was no formation of hydrates at room temperature and 3.5 MPa, and the methane adsorption globally decreased with increasing moisture content, although there was a minor increase in adsorption in a carbon sample with a lower moisture content (0.096–1.023 mmol of H_2O/g of dry carbon). (ii) The presence of water decreased the amount of methane adsorbed at 273 K even at the high pressure of 10.0 MPa. Although hydrates can be expected to occur at higher pressures and lower temperatures, the temperature of 273 K does not seem adequate for the formation of hydrates. Later, the same research group performed another set of methane adsorption isotherm experiments with coconut-shell-based (moistened and dry) activated carbons over a wide range of temperatures, 275-283 K, at pressures up to 11.0 MPa.¹⁵⁴ They also carried out a detailed study to explain the influence of the water content in the wetted carbon on the methane adsorption at 275 K. This time, they observed the formation of hydrates under classical conditions by (i) a stepwise adsorption isotherm, which showed a negligible amount of adsorption and no hydrate formation until the pressure reached an inflection-point pressure or hydrate-formation pressure, p_{f} , which was experimentally observed at about 4.0 MPa. (ii) After this pressure (i.e., for p > 4.0 MPa), a sharp increase was observed in the isotherm, and at 6.0 MPa, the amount adsorbed in wetted pores surpassed the amount adsorbed in the (same) dry carbon. Increasing the weight-based water content R_w (defined as the weight of water per unit weight of dry carbon) from 0.7 to 1.4 increased the storage capacity from 24.78 wt % at 9.52 MPa to 31.74 wt % at 9.26 MPa; however, the increase in moisture content did not change the hydrate-formation pressure. The net gain with respect to dry carbon were 27.5% and 63.3% for $R_w = 0.7$ and $R_{\rm w} = 1.4$, respectively. Increasing $R_{\rm w}$ beyond 1.4 had a negative effect and decreased the storage capacity by a significant amount. These results led to the conclusion that the water could act as a catalyst inside the pore space only if it was in the right amount to provide sufficient access for methane molecules to penetrate the available pores or water cages. Zhou et al.¹⁵⁴ suggested that the reduction in storage capacity for higher moisture contents, such as $R_w = 3$, was due to the fact that the content of water was more than enough to fill all of the pore volume available so that the methane could only touch the surface of the water and did not experience any potential from the carbon pore surface. They also realized that, irrespective of the moisture content, the hydrate-formation pressure within the moistened carbon pore was always higher than the genuine hydrate-formation pressure (p_{eq} in Table 2), because the

driving force for the formation of hydrates in the former case was controlled by pore resistance to the diffusion of methane and percolation effects within the pore structure. Alternatively, Perrin et al.¹⁵² pointed out that the adsorbed water inside the pores is not free, but rather is trapped inside the pores, so that it is prone to capillary effects. They suggested that the hydrateformation pressure $p_{\rm f}$ can be related to the genuine hydrateformation pressure by the expression $p_f = p_{eq} + \Delta p$. The term Δp is the pressure difference across the fluid interface and is related to the pore diameter d through the Young-Laplace equation $\Delta p = (4\sigma_{\text{lb}} \cos \theta)/d$. For comparison, Table 2 lists the equilibrium data for methane hydrates at different temperatures, the theoretical formation pressure (p_f) , and the formation pressure in moistened carbon pores observed experimentally by Zhou et al.¹⁵⁴ Table 2 clearly shows that the inflection point nearly matched the mathematically determined $p_{\rm f}$ value, thus clearly indicating the importance of pore width in the methane adsorption process. The authors also noticed a similar trend in the adsorption isotherms at higher temperatures, with the inflection point occurring at different pressures depending on the temperature. In any case, working at higher temperatures does not seems to be an attractive option, as the gain in storage capacity obtained with wetted carbons, when compared to the dry material, was found to decrease progressively with increasing temperature.¹⁵⁴ In a follow-up work, Zhou et al.¹⁵⁵ experimentally verified

these concepts and showed that the pore size distribution also plays a crucial role in the increase in storage capacity due to the effect of wetting. They measured methane adsorption isotherms on three different dry and moistened activated carbons, denoted as AX-21 (BET surface area = $2745 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$), JX-406 (2585 m²/g), and BY-1 (1056 m²/g), that differed in their pore properties such as surface area and pore size distribution. In the case of the dry samples, they found that the storage capacity was proportional to the surface area. However, in the case of the moistened samples, the relationship between surface area and storage capacity was not linear; rather, the storage capacity seemed to be influenced by a combination of several other complex factors including the pore size distribution, total micropore volume, and moisture content. They found that the storage capacity of a moist carbon is more likely to be a material property, that is, unique rather than global, as it changed from one carbon to another depending on the pore volume and pore size distribution. The results of Zhou et al.¹⁵⁵ at least confirmed that, depending on the pore properties of the individual carbon sample, an optimum moisture content that ultimately increases the storage capacity (at higher pressure) might exist or no such optimum moisture content exists at all. A moist activated carbon containing pores with sizes of >2 nm favors the storage capacity for methane at high pressures when compared to activated carbons containing pores with sizes of <2 nm. Zhou et al.¹⁵⁵ put forward a reasonable argument to explain this behavior by considering the side length of type I clathrates (1.2 nm) and the collision diameter of methane molecules (0.381 nm), which clearly indicates that a pore width of 1.6-2.8 nm would allow the formation of one or two layers of clathrate where methane molecules could move in and out.

Following some of the above-mentioned research, Perrin et al.¹⁵² performed methane adsorption experiments with dry and water-moistened micro- and mesoporous activated carbons at 275 K. They found that the classical carbon adsorbents with high micropore volumes seemed not to be useful for forming methane hydrates, as hydrates preferentially formed in larger

pores, essentially mesopores. The mesoporous carbon Picazine was found to store methane up to 227 v/v at 8 MPa and 275 K, whereas the dry microporous carbon could store only <150 v/v under similar experimental conditions. Similarly to Zhou et al.,^{153,155} they noticed a stepwise isotherm with a very low but constant methane uptake with increasing pressure until the pressure reached p_{ty} after which the methane uptake rose sharply and became higher than when measured in dry carbon. The authors found that the CH_4/H_2O stoichiometry within the moistened pores could be improved by manipulating the carbon pore width and the water content inside the carbon pores. In fact, their experimental results confirmed that hydrate structures with different stoichiometries do occur within partially moistened (unsaturated) carbon pores depending on the pore size. They experimentally obtained nanohydrates (or clathrates) with stoichiometries of 8.9CH₄·46H₂O, 11.4CH₄· $46H_2O_1$ and $18.6CH_4 \cdot 46H_2O$ in the mesopores, whereas in the micropores, they obtained a nanohydrate with a stoichiometry of 5.8CH₄·46H₂O. All of these stoichiometric ratios comprise more methane than the expected value for an sI hydrate. The authors argued convincingly that these unusual stoichiometries do not represent a new hydrate structure as claimed in other works,^{150,151} but rather are due to the effects of partial saturation of the carbon pores by moisture, which leaves free pore volume where methane molecules are either adsorbed or compressed depending on the pore width. Although the research of Perrin et al.¹⁵² confirmed that the formation of hydrates increases the ultimate storage capacity by a significant amount in both micro- and mesoporous carbons, their results seem complicated, as the increase in the storage capacities of all of the carbon structures reported might only be due to an increase in packing density because of the wetting process rather than an actual increase in excess adsorption. The sole factor increasing the storage capacity was not clearly reported, and the ambiguity in the volumetric storage capacity probably arises from many factors involved in the derivation of the volumetric storage capacity values of any moistened adsorbent: (i) the gravimetric storage capacity (mass of CH_4 /mass of dry carbon) expressed in terms of the weight of dry carbon, (ii) the gravimetric storage capacity expressed in terms of the weight of wetted carbon (mass of CH₄/mass of wet carbon), (iii) the packing density of dry carbon, and (iv) the packing density of wetted carbon. Typically, all of these factors play a crucial role in the discrepancies found among reported values and conclusions derived in the literature on the storage of methane in moistened carbon structures. For instance, if water is treated as a coadsorbate rather than as a compound in the adsorbent framework, then a dry Picazine carbon reported in the work of Perrin et al.,¹⁵² which adsorbed 40 mmol of CH₄/g of dry carbon at 8 MPa and 2 °C, exceeded the wetted material, which stored only up to 35.7 mmol/g under similar experimental conditions. If these values are converted into volumetric storage capacities using the packing densities of the dry (0.16 g/cm^3) and wet (0.54 g/cm^3) Picazine, then storage capacities of 157 and 474 v/v could be reached with the dry and wet Picazine, respectively, at 275 K and 8 MPa. In contrast, if water is treated as a compound in the adsorbent framework, that is, if the gravimetric storage capacity is expressed in terms of grams of CH₄ per gram of wet carbon, then after some manipulation, the storage capacity of wet Picazine appears to be only 231 v/v at 8 MPa and 275 K.

Despite these complicating factors, the results of Zhou et al. 154 and Perrin et al. 152 reveal that there is no unique way to

relate the pore size to the clathrate structure or the ultimate storage capacity of the moistened carbons, although the formation of hydrates usually increases the storage capacity by a greater amount for a mesoporous carbon than for a dry microporous carbon.

In a more recent work, Liu et al.¹⁵⁶ performed a systematic study with activated carbons that confirmed the results of Perrin et al.¹⁵² They performed methane adsorption isotherm experiments in a wet corncob-based carbon with an optimum high surface area of 3452 m^2/g , with 58.6% of its pores tuned to match the dimensions of methane hydrates (1.6-2.8 nm). As in the earlier research, the storage capacity was found to be a function of the moisture content inside the carbon pores, with an optimum moisture content value. The gravimetric density reached a maximum of 63 wt % at 9.0 MPa when the water content R_w (weight ratio of water to carbon) reached a maximum of 3.35 (whereas dry carbon stored only 23.6 wt %), and the volumetric storage capacity reached a maximum of 204 v/v at 9.0 MPa for an R_w value of 2. A further increase in the moisture content only decreased the methane adsorption, as the excess water molecules occupied the pores, restricting the access for methane molecules.

All of the above-mentioned publications point to the fact that hydrates can be formed within micropores/mesopores of carbon materials under classical conditions (Table 2), and in some extreme cases, hydrates seem to form even under unrealistic conditions (room temperature and subatmospheric pressure), although the latter results have yet to be confirmed. Even though most of the moistened carbon materials exhibited promising storage capacities close to 200 v/v, these results showed that such high adsorption capacity values can be obtained only at the expense of high pressures (up to 10 MPa) and temperatures near 273 K. Irrespective of the carbon pore properties, mesoporous or microporous, the adsorption in dry pores is always small when compared to that in moist pores. Apart from these issues, adsorption on wet carbons also has some other serious drawbacks, one of which is the slow kinetics of hydrate formation, ranging from about 24 h to 1 week per individual experimental point and, in extreme scenarios, up to one month.^{152,157} This makes the application of this approach in vehicles extremely impractical. Some studies also showed that, although the moisture content increased the storage capacity, it decreased the hydrate-formation kinetics by a significant amount, making the tank-filling process a significant issue. Some attempts have been made to increase the hydrateformation kinetics by adding surfactant;¹⁵⁷ however, they only decreased the hydrate-formation pressure and improved neither the storage capacity nor the hydrate-formation kinetics. In addition, experimental investigations on the desorption kinetics revealed that, although the discharge of methane stored as hydrates is rapid, a great deal of water evolves during desorption and is, therefore, irreversibly lost.^{152,157} This would require the vehicle user to readjust the water content back to the initially optimized value of R_w before subsequent refilling of the tank. Another serious concern is that the volumetric storage capacities of wetted carbon structures look impressive only at pressures ranging from 8.0 to 10.0 MPa. Such high-pressure storage cannot be carried out in flat storage tanks designed for ANG systems and would demand tanks with design strategies comparable to those required for CNG storage tanks, probably with a cylindrical shape that would occupy most of the trunk space of the vehicle. Some experimental research suggested that increasing the water content inside the pores

could reduce the hydrate-formation pressure from ~ 5 to ~ 3.2 MPa; however, this did not have any influence on the storage capacity as a high pressure was still needed to reach the storage capacity.¹⁵² Furthermore, the added water would significantly increase the weight of the storage tank, and experimental results confirmed that the gravimetric storage capacity of wetted carbons is significantly lower than that of dry carbons.¹⁵² Another issue that needs to be considered is the possibility of storing methane as ANG at 275 K and at higher pressures. In section 4, we discussed several conformed carbon materials that can store methane up to 160 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 298 K. Thus, it is likely that methane can be stored as an adsorbed gas in carbon pores at capacities of >180 v/v at 275 K and at higher pressures. In a recent experimental study, it was shown that a corrugated porous graphene can store up to 236 v/v at 9.0 MPa and 274 K.¹⁵⁸ If the storage capacity is the only objective, irrespective of the use of a working/storage temperature that requires an onboard refrigeration unit for the storage of fuel, then at 274 K, at the expense of high pressure (9 MPa), a properly tuned dry carbon-based material itself is sufficient to surpass the landmark number of 180 v/v by a significant amount. The experimental results of Ning et al.¹⁵⁸ clearly show that, if such high storage capacity values can be achieved with ANG at 274-275 K, then storing methane as hydrates that suffer from slow kinetics does not seem to be an interesting option in the search for an optimal method for natural gas storage.

7. ISOSTERIC HEAT OF ADSORPTION

Increasing the isosteric heat of adsorption is being considered as a design strategy for improving the storage capacities of adsorbents. By definition, the isosteric heat, Q_{st} , of adsorption is always positive and is simply the absolute value of the differential enthalpy of adsorption, $-\Delta H$. Q_{st} is a state function and is a function of surface coverage, and it can be obtained experimentally by differentiating the series of adsorption isotherms at a constant loading for a pure perfect gas.¹⁵⁹ The isosteric heat gives a fundamental measure of the solid-fluid and fluid-fluid interactions depending on the pressure and temperature, and its value at zero coverage gives a fundamental measure of the fluid-solid (in the present case, CH₄-carbon atoms in the solid) interactions with negligible contribution from the fluid-fluid (CH_4-CH_4) interactions. The higher the adsorption isosteric heat of an adsorbent, the higher its capacity to host the guest molecules of interest. According to recent reviews published by Konstas et al.92 and He et al.,111 in the case of MOF structures, the isosteric heat of adsorption at low or zero coverage (i.e., adsorption at infinite dilution) typically ranges from 9 to 20 kJ/mol. As exceptional cases, the two MOFs PCN-14 and SNU-50 were found to exhibit very high $Q_{\rm st}$ values of 26 and 30 kJ/mol, respectively, outperforming any other MOFs to date.^{47,124} For the case of carbon-based materials, the Q_{st} values typically lie in the range of 16–30 kJ/ mol.^{54,160–169} The activated carbon MHz-RC was found to exhibit a remarkable Q_{st} value of 40 kJ/mol at low loadings,⁵¹ which is much higher than the Q_{st} values of PCN-14 and other classes of materials, although its storage capacity was only about 130 v/v at 3.5 MPa and 298 K. Computational studies $^{170-172}$ have confirmed that the

Computational studies^{170–172} have confirmed that the storage properties of adsorbents that already have reasonable adsorption capacities could be further improved by increasing their isosteric heats of adsorption. The thermodynamic calculations of Bhatia and Myers¹⁷³ suggested an optimal $Q_{\rm st}$

value of ~18 kJ/mol for an adsorption cycle operating at 298 K between 0.15 and 3.0 MPa. Although the isosteric heats of adsorption of most MOF and carbon materials exceed this value, experimental values reported in different works, which have already been reviewed, and also our own estimations (see Figure 3b) reveal that none of the conformed materials seem to guarantee a storage or delivery value of 180 v/v. The few conformed materials that seem to be promising for reaching a storage value of 180 v/v either have not been independently verified or have not been checked for repeatability, in addition to other problems such as the use of vague experimental and calculation procedures.^{44,68} Thus, to reach such high storage or delivery values, the isosteric heat for methane adsorption should probably be improved beyond 18 kJ/mol. At this stage, it should be mentioned that most MOFs and carbon structures, irrespective of their ultimate storage capacities, already exhibit high isosteric heats greater than 16 kJ/mol, which is higher than the heat of vaporization of methane (8.17 kJ/mol at 112 K) and sufficient to create thermal fluctuations inside the adsorbent bed. Thus, it should be considered that materials with high isosteric heats and any attempts to increase Q_{st} values might also demand adapted systems to maintain isothermal conditions during adsorption/desorption cycles.

It is also important to take into account the technical issues that are associated with the design strategy of increasing the storage capacity by increasing isosteric heat, which is always related to a significant increase in adsorption at lower pressures and a strong binding energy, both of which make desorption a more difficult process, thus decreasing the amount of methane that can be delivered.

8. TECHNICAL CHALLENGES WITH ANG

Natural gas is technically a generic name for a combination of gases in which methane is the primary component, along with other compounds such as heavier hydrocarbons (C_{2+}) , nitrogen, water, CO₂, sulfur, and some traces of rare gases; such gas mixtures are usually termed wet natural gas. Although methane hydrates lying under the deep sea can be dissociated to yield dry (pure) methane, at the current level of understanding, this extraction of methane is still in a preliminary stage. The methane available in casinghead gas, gas-well gas, and coal-seam/coal-bed gas and the gas obtained from fossil fuels or other carbon-containing materials by gasification are all mixtures (wet natural gas). Most of the studies on ANG systems described in the literature have focused mainly on the development of novel porous materials that could ultimately exhibit very high storage capacities for pure methane. On the other hand, some of these works (all of them focused on carbon-based materials), discussing the adsorption of both dry and wet natural gas, illustrate the fact that the adsorption mechanisms for the two cases are different in terms of the fuel energy storage capacity, deliverable capacity, and adsorbent efficiency for cyclic usage. Among other operational problems, one of the main issues that hinders the success of ANG technology is the deterioration of the ultimate storage capacity of adsorbents for methane upon extended operation as a result of the complex nature of the actual natural gas composition.¹⁷⁴

In real systems, natural gas will be stored as a fuel onboard and will contain other high-molecular-weight compounds that are likely to be adsorbed more strongly than methane, especially in the low-pressure region.^{158,174,175} This would reduce the deliverable capacities and storage capacities of the adsorbent during cyclic operation. Li and Chen¹⁷⁶ investigated the adsorption capacities of all of the components of natural gas at 25 °C for the first time and found that the adsorption capacities of the various components of natural gas at 3.5 MPa follow the trend $C_3H_8 > H_2S > CO_2 > C_2H_6 > CH_4 > N_2$. Ridha et al.¹⁷⁷ showed that non-methane hydrocarbon gases reduced the deliverable capacity of an activated carbon, denoted as AC-L in their study, by a factor of 19.4% for a natural gas containing 14.98 and 14.54 vol % of ethane and propane, respectively, discharged from the tank at a rate of 1 L/min. They found that the reduction in storage/deliverable capacity was due to the gradual filling of the adsorbent micropores by higher-molecular-weight hydrocarbons, thus reducing the active sites available for methane and thereby decreasing the storage capacity, especially during cyclic adsorbent usage. These highmolecular-weight compounds remained adsorbed at the discharge pressure, thereby reducing the deliverable capacity. The adsorption of these high-molecular-weight compounds is usually associated with higher isosteric heats,¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁷⁹ and such compounds can be removed only by special means such as heating or application of a vacuum. In a more recent study using molecular simulations,¹⁸⁰ it was shown that the presence of even a very low amount of nitrogen (5%) greatly influences the amount of methane adsorbed in the available pore volume, as the nitrogen molecules tend to adsorb on the surface and coadsorb between the methane molecules. Li and Chen¹⁷⁶ tested the adsorption capacity of a carbon for 10 charge/ discharge cycles and found that mixed gas significantly reduced the adsorption reversibility, as heavy or polar components such as C₃H₈ and H₂S tended to continuously accumulate within the micropores and remain in the adsorbed state even at lower pressures. Pupier et al. 181 performed large-scale adsorption experiments with natural gas containing 95% methane along with other components, by charging and discharging a fuel tank with activated carbon for 700 cycles, which corresponds to approximately 250000 km for a vehicle with a fuel tank allowing for a driving range of 400 km. They found that, because of the accumulation of heavier components, the efficiency of the activated carbon decreased by almost 50% after 700 cycles. This scenario did not change even when the methane was stored as hydrates within wetted micropores.¹⁷⁴

Storage capacity is the main factor limiting the commercialization of ANG at the level of CNG. To commercialize ANG, the natural gas must be purified to eliminate heavy hydrocarbons and polar components before the gas is supplied to the ANG fuel tanks, as the presence of such compounds hinders the storage capacity of the process. Alternatively, a properly designed carbon-based filter or guard bed could be used to prevent the contamination of the storage tank. The latter option still requires a great deal of research, and its practical applicability has not yet been studied for onboard (mobile) applications. However, there are recent studies^{182,183} on new carbon molecular sieves showing that their selectivity in the adsorption of contaminants of methane can be high, thus facilitating their use as guard beds.

Another technical problem associated with ANG technology arises from the nature of the adsorption process itself. Because of the fact that adsorption is exothermic, the rate of adsorption is associated with a rise in temperature of the bed that will directly influence the rate of adsorption and the ultimate storage capacity. For example, Ridha et al.^{177,178} reported that a temperature rise of up to 99 °C was noticed in an ANG bed that was charged at a flow rate of 1 L/min, especially in the center region of the adsorbent bed, because of its poor thermal conductivity. They found that this thermal fluctuation became worse and the temperature of the bed reached 116 °C when the tank was filled at a much higher rate of 5 L/min. Their work further confirmed that the presence of ethane and propane could cause more thermal fluctuations because these gases have higher isosteric heats than methane. These facts clearly indicate that, irrespective of the class of porous material and despite their storage capacities under ideal isothermal conditions, thermal fluctuations could reduce their ultimate storage capacities under practical conditions. Ridha et al. claimed that the heating process reduced the storage capacity of a carbon material by 26.9% compared to the storage capacity of the same carbon material charged with methane under isothermal conditions.^{171,172} Yang et al.¹⁸⁴ showed that thermal fluctuations also affect the rate of desorption of methane from an adsorbent tank filled with activated carbon. They found that, during discharge, which is an endothermic process, the temperature of the bed dropped instantaneously by a significant amount, which, in turn, severely affected the amount of methane released at the discharge pressure and thus dramatically reduced the rate of discharge at intermediate pressures. During a desorption process operated between 0.3 and 4.5 MPa, the temperature instantaneously (in 145 s) dropped by more than 40 °C, which, in turn, decreased the desorption rate from 0.52 to 0.11 L/s. They found that 92% of the total dischargeable amount was delivered in 900 s, and after this time, the flow rate dropped to 0.01 L/s and stayed almost constant throughout the remaining desorption process that ran up to 8000 s. Because the desorption process is endothermic, the complete discharge of the ANG will be a longer process unless an external heat is supplied to compensate for the endothermic heat and the heat transfer driven by the temperature difference between the adsorbent bed and the surroundings. These drawbacks require further research, which should focus on possible ways to increase the heat-transfer properties of the bed to mitigate some of the problems encountered during the operation of ANG tanks, especially for onboard applications. At this stage, several accessories such as external fins, vessels with several tubes compacted with adsorbent, gas distribution pipes, perforated tubes in the tank centers, and external cooling jackets have been proposed during ANG tank design to resolve this particular issue.¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸ Increasing the thermal conductivity of the carbon adsorbent would be an optimal approach, as it could help to dissipate the heat evolved/supplied during the adsorption/desorption process. All of the works mentioned above were carried out for the case of a storage tank filled with carbon materials. For the case of MOFs or other classes of porous materials, little work has focused on this area detailing the problems of thermal conductivity and thermal fluctuations of the adsorbent bed during charge/discharge cycles. Most of the promising MOFs are characterized by their constant isosteric heats of adsorption for methane over wide ranges of surface coverage values, which, in turn, would be sufficient to impose some heat-/mass-transfer effects throughout the entire desorption process. Thus, the efficiency of ANG systems with some of the new classes of porous materials with high methane storage capacities, for example, MOFs, should be engineered, checked, and optimized for their heat- and mass-transfer kinetics for several charge/ discharge cycles.

9. VISIONS FOR THE FUTURE

Oil depletion due to the continuous increase in the use of oil, motor traffic, and the quality of the environment are all intrinsically related. Every year, more than 3 million cars are added to the car fleet in Europe. In terms of energy consumption, this corresponds to an increase of roughly 4% each year. Oil demand and the quality of the environment can be jointly addressed by selecting an appropriate alternative fuel that burns cleanly. Although hydrogen is the cleanest fuel available on Earth, current technologies to produce, store, and transport hydrogen are not sufficient to be economically feasible at present. Thus, in view of the increasing energy consumption of transportation and the lack of adequate/ economical solutions for the production and storage of hydrogen for fuel cells or combustion engines, natural gas seems to be the primary fuel for this century. Natural gas vehicles are currently receiving considerable attention from all sectors, including governmental and environmental agencies, researchers, and automobile manufacturers. Although CNG vehicles have already picked up a top rank in developed countries such as the United States and the countries of the European Union, there is hope to see ANG vehicles on the market in the near future, operating at room temperature and at much lower pressures. ANG vehicles can be more pleasing for the vehicle user than CNG vehicles, because they operate at lower/safer pressures and have easy delivery processes and space aesthetics, because of their compatibility with flat fuel tanks. Recent combustion technologies allow passenger cars to be run for up to 100 km with carbon emissions of just 79 g/km and use of only 2.9 kg of CNG.¹⁸⁸ If the right storage material with a high storage capacity is developed, ANG will help to increase the driving range of modern vehicles.

This review has emphasized some ideal facts/parameters that a perfect storage material should exhibit, such as high surface area, pore volume, optimum pore width, low framework density, and high packing density. In recent years, most of the research has been targeted on developing materials with ultrahigh surface areas for gas storage applications. However, this review illustrated that the targeting of ultrahigh surface areas might not be the sole crucial factor for attaining optimum gas storage at ambient temperature conditions. Irrespective of the class of material (MOFs or carbons), a practical limit for the surface area exists above which further increases do not provide any specific advantage for natural gas storage (at 3.5 MPa). In this review, it has been shown that the ideal material should have a high packing density with a surface area of $\sim 2500 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ and should contain pores of optimum size, roughly twice the size of a methane molecule. Most of the research has followed the path of obtaining high-surface-area materials to reach the goal of 180 v/v or more. Theoreticians continuously try to propose new structures that might be difficult to obtain experimentally, so we suggest a stronger collaboration between experimentalists and theoreticians in the future. Improving the surface area/packing density and isosteric heat while strictly maintaining the pore size at the optimum value seems to be the most promising way to improve the methane storage capacities of porous materials.

Upon developing and adapting an adequate design strategy, there is a great deal of scope to reach a porous material, either a carbon-based or MOF structure, that could possibly provide some solution to the problems associated with driving distance and fuel storage in natural gas vehicles. Although storage in hydrate form might receive attention for the transport of fuels at larger scales, it would be excessively optimistic to expect them onboard standard passenger cars soon. CNG, as an already-established technology, operates at extreme pressures (>20 MPa) but has a reasonable driving distance, and thus, adsorbents for ANG, operating at 3.5 MPa, should be able to compete with CNG in several aspects related to operating conditions, compatibility with a flat storage tank, and driving distance.

In recent years, a great deal of research has appeared, especially in the area of MOFs, claiming the achievement of high volumetric storage capacities that meet or even exceed the DOE target by significant amounts. Most of these values, however, were obtained by calculating the volumetric storage capacity from the experimental excess isotherms using the crystallographic density, ignoring the fact that approximately 25-30% of the volume corresponds to intraparticle space that is not occupied by the adsorbent. In a practical case, for methane storage, the problem is related with the volume of fuel stored in the vessel, which, for ANG systems, is the sum of the amount of methane adsorbed, the density of the solid framework, and the amount of methane stored as a gas phase in the void and macropore volume. The MOF design strategy should take into account the additional parameter of the packing density, which is as important as the nanoscale properties of the adsorbent such as the pore volume/size/ topology or surface area. Thus, as stressed in earlier sections of this review, attention should be paid to this important parameter when drawing conclusions based on the volumetric storage capacities of materials.

Another area that requires further research is the practical possibility of reaching the new DOE targets with porous materials. This review emphasized the fact that it already seems difficult in practice to reach the older demanding target of 180 v/v in terms of either delivery or storage capacity with any of the actual conformed materials available. The new DOE MOVE goals for both gravimetric (0.5 g/g) and volumetric (266 v/v)storage capacities at $p \leq 3.5$ MPa seem to be set too high and, thus, should probably be revised. A powdered porous material with a gravimetric storage capacity of 0.5 g/g could meet the volumetric storage capacity of 266 v/v only if the packing density reached 376 g/L. A careful screening of the existing literature, including some reports from DOE laboratories, clearly indicates that, even to reach a storage capacity of 180 v/ v, a packing density much higher than 500 mg/L would be needed. At this stage, it is also important to emphasize that it is time to revise the conditions and few specific demands set by state agencies such as that the storage pressure should be ≤ 3.5 MPa, as set by state agencies. Most MOFs and activated cabons with hierarchical pore structures can reach adsorption saturation at much higher pressures, and thus, such materials (especially those that contain larger micropores) can exhibit higher gravimetric adsorption capacities at pressures of >3.5 MPa. This property should be properly exploited. Even though the ANG storage pressure of 3.5 MPa can provide a uniform and unique design parameter and standards for engineers for the design of pressure sensors or valves or pipelines that connect ANG tanks with the engines, it is absolutely necessary to bring new opportunity by introducing a new system (at least to encourage materials scientists) for classifying the performance of the natural gas storage materials. Thus, it would be meaningful to introduce a grading system for adsorbent materials, for example, grade 1, materials that can store 266

v/v (or even more) at 3.5-4 MPa; grade 2, materials that can store 266 v/v at 4-5 MPa; and grade 3, materials that can store 266 v/v at p > 5 MPa. Such a grading system based purely on volumetric storage capacity will force researchers to explore the storage properties of adsorbents to the full extent. Suggestions from both experimentalists and theoreticians about the possibility of reaching a daunting target of 266 v/v and some design strategies and perspectives for reaching such high values are needed to find appropriate porous materials. A full-scale theoretical study on the feasibility of reaching the new DOE targets with all of the available classes of porous materials, before any further significant investments or efforts are made, should also be considered. State agencies of both developed and developing countries are already announcing more incentives for natural gas vehicles and are in the process of bringing awareness to the public. Transportation is among the most energy-consuming sectors, which is why adopting methane fuel vehicles will be a key factor, for at least the next two decades, in achieving the concept of energy diversity and improving the economy without sacrificing our environment.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Supporting Information

The Supporting Information is available free of charge on the ACS Publications website at DOI: 10.1021/acs.chem-rev.6b00505.

Simulation details, force field used, details of the carbon prototype, and methods used to obtain the theoretical methane adsorption capacity (PDF)

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*E-mail: v.kannuchamy@qmul.ac.uk, vasanth_vit@yahoo.com. ORCID [©]

K. Vasanth Kumar: 0000-0003-4244-4542

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Dr. K. Vasanth Kumar is an Advanced Stage IEF Marie Curie Research Fellow at Queen Mary, University of London. He has a Ph.D. in Chemical and Biological Engineering from University of Porto (Porto, Portugal) and another Ph.D. in Environmental Technology from Anna University (Chennai, India). He has more than 12 years of research experience, he has published more than 70 articles that have been cited more than 3400 times and has an *h*-index of 27, and he was "one of the top 50 cited researchers in the world" 2004-2007 under the topic of Colloid and Interface Science. His current research interests include the storage of gases in porous materials, molecular simulations, and the crystallization of food and pharmaceutical products.

Ms. Kathrin Preuss obtained her M.Sc. degree in Industrial Biotechnology at the Technical University of Munich (München, Germany). She is currently a Ph.D. student under the supervision of Prof. Magdalena Titirici at Queen Mary, University of London. Her research focuses on the development of sustainable platinum-free electrocatalysts for the oxygen-reduction reaction in proton-exchangemembrane fuel cells. Her research interests include sustainable energy materials and gas storage. Prof. Magdalena Titirici graduated from University of Bucharest in 2000 with a B.Sc. in Chemistry. She obtained her Ph.D. at the University of Dortmund (Dortmund, Germany) in 2005. Between 2006 and 20012, she led the group "Sustainable Carbom Material" at the Max Planck Institute of Colloids and Interfaces (Potsdam, Germany), where she also did her hablitation. In 2013, Prof. Titirici became an Associate Professor in Materials Science at Queen Mary, University of London. She was promoted to a full profesorshop in Sustainable Materials Chemistry in 2014. Since 2015, she has been the Director of Research for the Functional Materials center. Prof. Titirici is the author of approximately 120 publications highly cited in the field of sustainable materials for various renewable energies, several book chapters, and one edited book. She is on the editorial boards of ChemSusChem (Wiley) and ChemPlusChem (Wiley) and is an associate editor for J. Mater. Chem. A (RSC). Prof. Titirici was awarded the 2016 Rosenhain Medal and Prize from the Institute of Materials and Mines in London in recognition of distinguished achievement in materials science for researchers under the age of 40.

Prof. Francisco Rodríguez-Reinoso is a world-recognized leader in the field of carbon, with expertise in activated carbon and carbon molecular sieve preparation, characterization and utilization; carbons for the storage of natural gas and hydrogen; carbon-supported catalysts; mesoporous carbons and carbon foams; isotropic graphite and its use in structural applications; and carbon-ceramic and carbon-metal composites. He has published over 350 articles in refereed journals (h-index = 62) and has supervised the theses of 50 Ph.D. students. He was responsible for a total of >120 research projects and industrial contracts in the period 1982-2009 at the University of Alicante (San Vicente del Raspeig, Spain). He was the founding president of the Spanish Carbon Group in 1991, and he is the recipient of several prestigious awards, including the Japan Carbon Award for Lifetime Achievement (2008), the SGL Carbon Award from the American Carbon Society (2010), and a Ubbelohde Lecturer from the British Carbon Group (2013). He was the editor of the journal Carbon from 1991 to 2012 and a NATO consultant for the Science for Peace Programme (2000-2006).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Support from the Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovacion (Joint Japan–Spain Project PLE2009-0052) is acknowledged. K.V.K. thanks the European Commission for an EU-FP7 Intra European Marie Curie Research Fellowship (PIEF-GA-2013-623227) through Project BIOADSORB, an IAPP Fellowship through the ATLAS-H2 FP7 Marie Curie Project (PIAP-GA-251562), and Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación (Spain) for a Juan de la Cierva fellowship.

REFERENCES

(1) Kavalov, B. Techno-economic analysis of Natural Gas application as an energy source for road transport in the EU; European Commission, 2004. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/265217576_Technoeconomic_analysis_of_Natural_Gas_application_as_an_energy_ source for road transport in the EU (accessed Oct 2016).

(2) Energy Efficiency and Energy Consumption in the Transport Sector. European Environment Agency: Copenhagen, Denmark, 2011. http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/energyefficiency-and-energy-consumption/assessment-1 (accessed Oct 2013).

(3) EU Energy in figures: CO₂ emissions by sector, 2010. http://ec. europa.eu/energy/observatory/statistics/doc/2010_ext_co2_ emissions by sector 2010.pdf (accessed Oct 2013).

(4) Who's on Board with the Copenhagen Accord? Reported Reactions to the Copenhagen Accord. U.S. Climate Action Network:

Chemical Reviews

Washington, DC. http://www.usclimatenetwork.org/policy/ copenhagen-accord-commitments (accessed Nov 2013).

(5) Communication from the Commission to the European Paliament, The Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Clean Power for Transport: A European alternative fuels strategy; European Commission: Brussels, Belgium, 2013. http://cor.europa.eu/en/activities/stakeholders/Documents/ com2013-17.pdf (accessed Nov 2013).

(6) Haq, B. U. Natural Gas Deposits:Methane in the Deep Blue Sea. *Science* **1999**, *285*, 543–544.

(7) Sun, J.; Brady, T. A.; Rood, M. J.; Ave, N. M.; Rostam-Abadi, M.; Lizzio, A. A. Adsorbed natural gas storage with activated carbon. *Prepr. Pap. - Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Fuel Chem.*, **2005**.

(8) Kerr, R. A. Gas Hydrate Resource: Smaller but Sooner. *Science* 2004, 303, 946–947.

(9) How You Can Benefit from CNG Conversion. CNG United, San Clemente, CA. http://www.cngunited.com/support/how-you-canbenefit-from-cng-conversion (accessed Nov 2016).

(10) Dalkmann, H.; Brannigan, C. Transport and Climate Change, Module 5e. Sustainable Transport: A Sourcebook for Policy-Makers in Developing Cities; Deutsche-Gesellschaft-für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) GmbH: Eschborn, Germany, 2014.

(11) Directive 98/70/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 October 1998 Relating to the Quality of Petrol and Diesel Fuels and Amending Council Directive 93/12/EEC. *Off. J. Eur. Union* **1998**, L350–L358.

(12) Fact Sheet, Honda Civic: Dedicated CNG Sedan; Report NREL/ FS-540-26005; National Renewable Energy Laboratory: Golden, CO, May 1999. http://www.afdc.energy.gov/pdfs/civic.pdf (accessed Dec 2016).

(13) Quinn, D. F.; MacDonald, J. A. Natural Gas Storage. Carbon 1992, 30, 1097–1103.

(14) Wegrzyn, J.; Gurevich, M. Adsorbent Storage of Natural Gas. Appl. Energy **1996**, 55, 71–83.

(15) Bradley, M. K.; Droney, C. K. Subsonic Ultra Green Aircraft Research Phase II: N+4 Advanced Concept Development; Report NASA/ CR-2012-217556; Langley Research Center, National Aeronautics and Space Administration: Hamption, VA, 2012. https://ntrs.nasa.gov/ archive/nasa/casi.ntrs.nasa.gov/20120009038.pdf (accessed Nov 2016).

(16) Matranga, K. R.; Myers, A. L.; Glandt, E. D. Storage of Natural Gas by Adsorption on Activated Carbon. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **1992**, 47, 1569–1579.

(17) Tan, Z.; Gubbins, K. E. Adsorption in Carbon Micropores at Supercritical Temperatures. J. Phys. Chem. **1990**, *94*, 6061–6069.

(18) Rodríguez-Reinoso, F.; Almansa, C.; Molina-Sabio, M. Contribution to the Evaluation of Density of Methane Adsorbed on Activated Carbon. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2005**, *109*, 20227–20231.

(19) Cracknell, R. F.; Gordon, P.; Gubbins, K. E. Influence of Pore Geometry on the Design of Microporous Materials for Methane Storage. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1993**, *97*, 494–499.

(20) Burchell, T.; Rogers, M. Low Pressure Storage of Natural Gas for Vehicular Applications; SAE Technical Paper 2000-01-2205; SAE International: Warrendale, PA, 2000.

(21) Cook, T.; Komodromos, C.; Quinn, D.; Ragan, S. Adsorbent Storage for Natural Gas Vehicles. In *Carbon Materials for Advanced Technologies*; Burchell, T. D., Ed.; Elsevier Science Ltd.: Oxford, U.K., 1999; Chapter 9, pp 269–302.

(22) MOVE: Methane Oppurtuities for Vehicular Energy. Advanced Research Projects Agency – Energy, U.S. Department of Energy: Washington, DC, 2012. http://arpa-e.energy.gov/?q=arpa-eprograms/move (accessed Dec 2013).

(23) MacDonald, J. A. F.; Quinn, D. F. Carbon Absorbents for Natural Gas Storage. *Fuel* **1998**, 77, 61–64.

(24) Quinn, D. F.; MacDonald, J. A. F.; Sosin, K. A. Microporous Carbons as Adsorbents for Methane Storage. *Prepr. Pap. - Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Fuel Chem.* **1994**, 39, 451–455. (25) Quinn, D. Adsorption Storage: A Viable Alternative to Compression for Natural Gas Powered Vehicles? http://all-craft.missouri.edu/Reports/ANG.pdf (accessed Oct 2013).

(26) Menon, V. C.; Komarneni, S. Porous Adsorbents for Vehicular Natural Gas Storage: A Review. J. Porous Mater. **1998**, *5*, 43–58.

(27) Zhang, S. Y.; Talu, O.; Hayhurst, D. T. High-Pressure Adsorption of Methane in Zeolites NaX, MgX, CaX, SrX and BaX. J. Phys. Chem. **1991**, 95, 1722–1726.

(28) Bekyarova, E.; Murata, K.; Yudasaka, M.; Kasuya, D.; Iijima, S.; Tanaka, H.; Kahoh, H.; Kaneko, K. Single-Wall Nanostructured Carbon for Methane Storage. J. Phys. Chem. B 2003, 107, 4681–4684.
(29) Marsh, H.; Rodríguez Reinoso, F. Activated Carbon, 1st ed.;

Elsevier Ltd.: Oxford, U.K., 2006. (30) Yamamoto, M.; Itoh, T.; Sakamoto, H.; Fujimori, T.; Urita, K.; Hattori, Y.; Ohba, T.; Kagita, H.; Kanoh, H.; Niimura, S.; et al. Effect of Nanoscale Curvature Sign and Bundle Structure on Supercritical H₂

and CH_4 Adsorptivity of Single Wall Carbon Nanotube. Adsorption 2011, 17, 643–651.

(31) Hashimoto, S.; Fujimori, T.; Tanaka, H.; Urita, K.; Ohba, T.; Kanoh, H.; Itoh, T.; Asai, M.; Sakamoto, H.; Niimura, S.; et al. Anomaly of CH_4 Molecular Assembly Confined in Single-Wall Carbon Nanohorn Spaces. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2011**, 133, 2022–2024.

(32) Rejifu, A.; Noguchi, H.; Ohba, T.; Kanoh, H.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F.; Kaneko, K. Adsorptivities of Extremely High Surface Area Activated Carbon Fibres for CH_4 and H_2 . *Adsorpt. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, 27, 877–882.

(33) Prauchner, M. J.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. Preparation of Granular Activated Carbons for Adsorption of Natural Gas. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2008**, *109*, 581–584.

(34) Molina-Sabio, M.; Almansa, C.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. Phosphoric Acid Activated Carbon Discs for Methane Adsorption. *Carbon* **2003**, *41*, 2113–2119.

(35) Molina-Sabio, M.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. Role of Chemical Activation in the Development of Carbon Porosity. *Colloids Surf.*, A **2004**, 241, 15–25.

(36) Almansa, C.; Molina-Sabio, M.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. Adsorption of Methane into ZnCl2-Activated Carbon Derived Discs. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2004**, *76*, 185–191.

(37) Urbonaite, S.; Juárez-Galán, J. M.; Leis, J.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F.; Svensson, G. Porosity Development along the Synthesis of Carbons from Metal Carbides. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2008**, *113*, 14–21.

(38) Yulong, W.; Fei, W.; Guohua, L.; Guoqing, N.; Mingde, Y. Methane Storage in Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes at the Quantity of 80g. *Mater. Res. Bull.* **2008**, *43*, 1431–1439.

(39) Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. Porous Carbons in Gas Separation and Storage. In *Combined and Hybrid Adsorbents. Fundamentals and Applications;* Loureiro, J. M., Kartel, M. T., Eds.; NATO Security through Science Series; Springer: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2006; pp 133–144.

(40) MaCgibbon, R.; Badheka, R.; Sermon, P. Organically-Modified Silica Xerogels for Adsorption of CH_4 at 298 K. J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol. **2004**, 32, 53–56.

(41) Dai, X.-D.; Liu, X.-M.; Xing, W.; Qian, L.; Qiao, K.; Yan, Z.-F. Natural Gas Storage on Activated Carbon Modified by Metal Oxides. *J. Porous Mater.* **2009**, *16*, 27–32.

(42) Rouquerol, F.; Rouquerol, J.; Sing, K. Adsorption by Powders and Porous Solids: Principles, Methodology and Applications; Academic Press: London, 1999.

(43) Pfeifer, P.; Ehrburger-Dolle, F.; Rieker, T.; González, M.; Hoffman, W.; Molina-Sabio, M.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F.; Schmidt, P.; Voss, D. Nearly Space-Filling Fractal Networks of Carbon Nanopores. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2002**, *88*, 115502.

(44) Pfeifer, P. Reversible Storage of Alternative Fuels in Nanoporous Carbon: Methane and Hydrogen. http://all-craft.missouri.edu/ Reports/ALL-CRAFT.070328.EMPA.pdf (accessed Dec 2016).

(45) Ma, S.; Zhou, H.-C. Gas Storage in Porous Metal–Organic Frameworks for Clean Energy Applications. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 44–53.

Chemical Reviews

(46) Makal, T. A.; Li, J.-R.; Lu, W.; Zhou, H.-C. Methane Storage in Advanced Porous Materials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2012**, *41*, 7761–7779.

(47) Ma, S.; Sun, D.; Simmons, J. M.; Collier, C. D.; Yuan, D.; Zhou, H.-C. Metal–Organic Framework from an Anthracene Derivative Containing Nanoscopic Cages Exhibiting High Methane Uptake. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 1012–1016.

(48) Guo, Z.; Wu, H.; Srinivas, G.; Zhou, Y.; Xiang, S.; Chen, Z.; Yang, Y.; Zhou, W.; O'Keeffe, M.; Chen, B. A Metal–Organic Framework with Optimized Open Metal Sites and Pore Spaces for High Methane Storage at Room Temperature. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 3178–3181.

(49) Steele, W. A. *The Interaction of Gases with Solid Surfaces;* Pergamon Press: Oxford, U.K., 1974.

(50) Shao, X.; Wang, W.; Xue, R.; Shen, Z. Adsorption of Methane and Hydrogen on Mesocarbon Microbeads by Experiment and Molecular Simulation. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 2970–2978.

(51) Giraldo, L.; Moreno-Piraján, J. C. Novel Activated Carbon Monoliths for Methane Adsorption Obtained from Coffee Husks. *Mater. Sci. Appl.* **2011**, *02*, 331–339.

(52) Lozano-Castelló, D.; Alcañiz-Monge, J.; de la Casa-Lillo, M. A.; Cazorla-Amorós, D.; Linares-Solano, A. Advances in the Study of Methane Storage in Porous Carbonaceous Materials. *Fuel* **2002**, *81*, 1777–1803.

(53) Dai, X.; Liu, X.; Qian, L.; Yan, Z.; Zhang, J. A Novel Method to Synthesize Super-Activated Carbon for Natural Gas Adsorptive Storage. *J. Porous Mater.* **2006**, *13*, 399–405.

(54) Delavar, M.; Ghoreyshi, A. A.; Jahanshahi, M.; Irannejad, M. Experimental Evaluation of Methane Adsorption on Granular Activated Carbon (GAC) and Determination of Model Isotherm. *Int. J. Chem. Mol. Nucl. Mater. Metall. Eng.* **2010**, *62*, 47–50.

(55) Alcañiz-Monge, J.; De La Casa-Lillo, M. A.; Cazorla-Amorós, D.; Linares-Solano, A. Methane Storage in Activated Carbon Fibres. *Carbon* **1997**, 35, 291–297.

(56) Lee, J.-W.; Balathanigaimani, M. S.; Kang, H.-C.; Shim, W.-G.; Kim, C.; Moon, H. Methane Storage on Phenol-Based Activated Carbons at (293.15, 303.15, and 313.15) K. *J. Chem. Eng. Data* **2007**, *52*, 66–70.

(57) Balathanigaimani, M. S.; Lee, M.-J.; Shim, W.-G.; Lee, J.-W.; Moon, H. Charge and Discharge of Methane on Phenol-Based Carbon Monolith. *Adsorption* **2008**, *14*, 525–532.

(58) Sun, J.; Rood, M. J.; Rostam-Abadi, M.; Lizzio, A. A. Natural Gas Storage with Activated Carbon from a Bituminous Coal. *Gas Sep. Purif.* **1996**, *10*, 91–96.

(59) Srinivas, G.; Burress, J.; Yildirim, T. Graphene Oxide Derived Carbons (GODCs): Synthesis and Gas Adsorption Properties. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2012**, *5*, 6453.

(60) Bagheri, N.; Abedi, J. Adsorption of Methane on Corn Cobs Based Activated Carbon. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* **2011**, *89*, 2038–2043.

(61) Lee, J.-W.; Kang, H.-C.; Shim, W.-G.; Kim, C.; Moon, H. Methane Adsorption on Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotube at (303.15, 313.15, and 323.15) K. J. Chem. Eng. Data **2006**, *51*, 963–967.

(62) Rasoolzadeh, M.; Shohreh, F.; Gholamhosseini, M. M.; Ali, M. Study of Methane Storage and Adsorption Equilibria in Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes. *Iran. J. Chem. Chem. Eng.* **2003**, *27*, 127–134.

(63) Falco, C.; Marco-Lozar, J. P.; Salinas-Torres, D.; Morallón, E.; Cazorla-Amorós, D.; Titirici, M. M.; Lozano Castello, D. Tailoring the Porosity of Chemically Activated Hydrothermal Carbons: Influence of the Precursor and Hydrothermal Carbonization Temperature. *Carbon* **2013**, *62*, 346–355.

(64) Casco, M. E.; Martínez-Escandell, M.; Gadea-Ramos, E.; Kaneko, K.; Silvestre-Albero, J.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. High-Pressure Methane Storage in Porous Materials: Are Carbon Materials in the Pole Position? *Chem. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 959–964.

(65) Quinn, D. F., Holland, J. A. (Atlanta Gas Light Company). Carbonaceous material with high micropore and low macropore volume and process for producing same. U.S. Patent 5,071,820 1991.

(66) Contreras, M.; Lagos, G.; Escalona, N.; Soto-Garrido, G.; Radovic, L. R.; Garcia, R. On the Methane Adsorption Capacity of Activated Carbons: In Search of a Correlation with Adsorbent Properties. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 2009, 84, 1736–1741.

(67) Gupta, A.; Chempath, S.; Sanborn, M. J.; Clark, L. A.; Snurr, R. Q. Object-Oriented Programming Paradigms for Molecular Modeling. *Mol. Simul.* **2003**, *29*, 29–46.

(68) Celzard, A.; Fierro, V. Preparing a Suitable Material Designed for Methane Storage: A Comprehensive Report. *Energy Fuels* **2005**, *19*, 573–583.

(69) Chaffee, A. L.; Pandolfo, A. G.; Verheyen, T. V. 2001: Lignite Derived Monolithic Carbons for Natural Gas Storage. In *Proceedings of the 25th Biennial Carbon Conference*; American Carbon Society: Lexington, KY, 2001; pp 1391–1392.

(70) Marco-Lozar, J. P.; Kunowsky, M.; Suárez-García, F.; Carruthers, J. D.; Linares-Solano, A. Activated Carbon Monoliths for Gas Storage at Room Temperature. *Energy Environ. Sci.* 2012, *5*, 9833–9842.

(71) Barton, S. S.; Evans, M. J. B.; MacDonald, J. A. F. The Adsorption of Water Vapor by Porous Carbon. *Carbon* **1991**, *29*, 1099–1105.

(72) Carrillo, I.; Rangel, E.; Magaña, L. F. Adsorption of Carbon Dioxide and Methane on Graphene with a High Titanium Coverage. *Carbon* **2009**, *47*, 2758–2760.

(73) Wood, B. C.; Bhide, S. Y.; Dutta, D.; Kandagal, V. S.; Pathak, A. D.; Punnathanam, S. N.; Ayappa, K. G.; Narasimhan, S. Methane and Carbon Dioxide Adsorption on Edge-Functionalized Graphene: A Comparative DFT Study. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2012**, *137*, 054702.

(74) Düren, T.; Sarkisov, L.; Yaghi, O. M.; Snurr, R. Q. Design of New Materials for Methane Storage. *Langmuir* 2004, 20, 2683–2689.

(75) Tanaka, H.; El-Merraoui, M.; Steele, W. A.; Kaneko, K. Methane Adsorption on Single-Walled Carbon Nanotube: A Density Functional Theory Model. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2002**, *352*, 334–341.

(76) Cao, D.; Zhang, X.; Chen, J.; Wang, W.; Yun, J. Optimization of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotube Arrays for Methane Storage at Room Temperature. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2003**, *107*, 13286–13292.

(77) Mahdizadeh, S. J.; Tayyari, S. F. Influence of Temperature, Pressure, Nanotube's Diameter and Intertube Distance on Methane Adsorption in Homogeneous Armchair Open-Ended SWCNT Triangular Arrays. *Theor. Chem. Acc.* **2011**, *128*, 231–240.

(78) Zhang, X.; Wang, W. Methane Adsorption in Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes Arrays by Molecular Simulation and Density Functional Theory. *Fluid Phase Equilib.* **2002**, 194–197, 289–295.

(79) Kowalczyk, P.; Solarz, L.; Do, D. D.; Samborski, A.; MacElroy, J. M. D. Nanoscale Tubular Vessels for Storage of Methane at Ambient Temperatures. *Langmuir* **2006**, *22*, 9035–9040.

(80) Vakhrushev, A. V.; Suyetin, M. V. Methane Storage in Bottlelike Nanocapsules. *Nanotechnology* **2009**, *20*, 125602.

(81) Rodríguez-Reinoso, F.; Nakagawa, Y.; Silvestre-Albero, J.; Juárez-Galán, J. M.; Molina-Sabio, M. Correlation of Methane Uptake with Microporosity and Surface Area of Chemically Activated Carbons. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2008**, *115*, 603–608.

(82) Delavar, M.; Ghoreyshi, A. A.; Jahanshahi, M.; Nabian, N. Comparative Experimental Study of Methane Adsorption on Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes and Granular Activated Carbons. *J. Exp. Nanosci.* **2014**, *9*, 310–328.

(83) Robinson, J. A.; Snow, E. S.; Badescu, S. C.; Reinecke, T. L.; Perkins, F. K. Role of Defects in Single-Walled Carbon Nanotube Chemical Sensors. *Nano Lett.* **2006**, *6*, 1747–1751.

(84) Seki, K. Design of an Adsorbent with an Ideal Pore Structure for Methane Adsorption Using Metal Complexes. *Chem. Commun.* **2001**, 1496–1497.

(85) Li, H.; Eddaoudi, M.; O'Keeffe, M.; Yaghi, O. M. Design and Synthesis of an Exceptionally Stable and Highly Porous Metal– Organic Framework. *Nature* **1999**, 402, 276–279.

(86) Zhou, H.-C.; Long, J. R.; Yaghi, O. M. Introduction to Metal– Organic Frameworks. *Chem. Rev.* **2012**, *112*, 673–674.

(87) O'Keeffe, M. Design of MOFs and Intellectual Content in Reticular Chemistry: A Personal View. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2009, 38, 1215–1217.

Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1725–1727. (90) Noro, S.; Kitagawa, S.; Kondo, M.; Seki, K. A New, Methane Adsorbent, Porous Coordination Polymer. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000. 39, 2081–2084.

(91) Ma, S.; Meng, L. Energy-Related Applications of Functional Porous Metal–Organic Frameworks. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **2011**, *83*, 167–188.

(92) Konstas, K.; Osl, T.; Yang, Y.; Batten, M.; Burke, N.; Hill, A. J.; Hill, M. R. Methane Storage in Metal Organic Frameworks. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2012**, *22*, 16698–16708.

(93) Zhou, W. Methane Storage in Porous Metal–Organic Frameworks: Current Records and Future Perspectives. *Chem. Rec.* **2010**, *10*, 200–204.

(94) Getman, R. B.; Bae, Y.-S.; Wilmer, C. E.; Snurr, R. Q. Review and Analysis of Molecular Simulations of Methane, Hydrogen, and Acetylene Storage in Metal–Organic Frameworks. *Chem. Rev.* 2012, *112*, 703–723.

(95) Eddaoudi, M.; Kim, J.; Rosi, N.; Vodak, D.; Wachter, J.; O'Keeffe, M.; Yaghi, O. M. Systematic Design of Pore Size and Functionality in Isoreticular MOFs and Their Application in Methane Storage. *Science* **2002**, *295*, 469–472.

(96) Düren, T.; Millange, F.; Ferey, G.; Walton, K. S.; Snurr, R. Q. Calculating Geometric Surface Areas as a Characterization Tool for Metal–Organic Frameworks. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2007**, *111*, 15350–15356.

(97) Ma, S.; Wang, X.-S.; Collier, C. D.; Manis, E. S.; Zhou, H.-C. Ultramicroporous Metal–Organic Framework Based on 9,10-Anthracenedicarboxylate for Selective Gas Adsorption. *Inorg. Chem.* **2007**, *46*, 8499–8501.

(98) Wu, H.; Simmons, J. M.; Liu, Y.; Brown, C. M.; Wang, X.-S.; Ma, S.; Peterson, V. K.; Southon, P. D.; Kepert, C. J.; Zhou, H.-C.; et al. Metal–Organic Frameworks with Exceptionally High Methane Uptake: Where and How Is Methane Stored? *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 5205–5214.

(99) Wu, H.; Zhou, W.; Yildirim, T. High-Capacity Methane Storage in Metal–Organic Frameworks M_2 (dhtp): The Important Role of Open Metal Sites. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2009**, 131, 4995–5000.

(100) Dietzel, P. D. C.; Besikiotis, V.; Blom, R. Application of Metal–Organic Frameworks with Coordinatively Unsaturated Metal Sites in Storage and Separation of Methane and Carbon Dioxide. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2009**, *19*, 7362.

(101) Furukawa, H.; Ko, N.; Go, Y. B.; Aratani, N.; Choi, S. B.; Choi, E.; Yazaydin, A. O.; Snurr, R. Q.; O'Keeffe, M.; Kim, J.; et al. Kaskel. *Science* **2010**, *329*, 424–428.

(102) Llewellyn, P. L.; Bourrelly, S.; Serre, C.; Vimont, A.; Daturi, M.; Hamon, L.; De Weireld, G.; Chang, J.-S.; Hong, D.-Y.; Kyu Hwang, Y.; et al. High Uptakes of CO_2 and CH_4 in Mesoporous Metal–Organic Frameworks MIL-100 and MIL-101. *Langmuir* **2008**, 24, 7245–7250.

(103) Wang, S. Comparative Molecular Simulation Study of Methane Adsorption in Metal–Organic Frameworks. *Energy Fuels* **200**7, *21*, 953–956.

(104) Lucena, S. M. P.; Mileo, P. G. M.; Silvino, P. F. G.; Cavalcante, C. L. Unusual Adsorption Site Behavior in PCN-14 Metal–Organic Framework Predicted from Monte Carlo Simulation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 19282–19285.

(105) Sharma, M. K.; Senkovska, I.; Kaskel, S.; Bharadwaj, P. K. Three-Dimensional Porous Cd(II) Coordination Polymer with Large One-Dimensional Hexagonal Channels: High Pressure CH₄ and H₂ Adsorption Studies. *Inorg. Chem.* **2011**, *50*, 539–544.

(106) Noro, S.; Kitaura, R.; Kondo, M.; Kitagawa, S.; Ishii, T.; Matsuzaka, H.; Yamashita, M. Framework Engineering by Anions and Porous Functionalities of Cu(II)/4,4'-Bpy Coordination Polymers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 2568–2583.

(107) Park, H. J.; Cheon, Y. E.; Suh, M. P. Post-Synthetic Reversible Incorporation of Organic Linkers into Porous Metal–Organic Frameworks through Single-Crystal-to-Single-Crystal Transformations and Modification of Gas-Sorption Properties. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 11662–11669.

(108) Klein, N.; Hoffmann, H. C.; Cadiau, A.; Getzschmann, J.; Lohe, M. R.; Paasch, S.; Heydenreich, T.; Adil, K.; Senkovska, I.; Brunner, E.; et al. Structural Flexibility and Intrinsic Dynamics in the $M_2(2,6-ndc)_2(dabco)$ (M = Ni, Cu, Co, Zn) Metal–organic Frameworks. J. Mater. Chem. 2012, 22, 10303–10312.

(109) Park, H. J.; Suh, M. P. Stepwise and Hysteretic Sorption of N_2 , O_2 , CO_2 , and H_2 Gases in a Porous Metal–Organic Framework [Zn(2) (BPnDC)(2) (bpy)]. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, 46, 610–612.

(110) Park, M.; Moon, D.; Yoon, J. W.; Chang, J.-S.; Lah, M. S. A Metal–Organic Framework Based on an Unprecedented Nonanuclear Cluster as a Secondary Building Unit: Structure and Gas Sorption Behavior. *Chem. Commun.* **2009**, 2026–2028.

(111) He, Y.; Zhang, Z.; Xiang, S.; Wu, H.; Fronczek, F. R.; Zhou, W.; Krishna, R.; O'Keeffe, M.; Chen, B. High Separation Capacity and Selectivity of C_2 Hydrocarbons over Methane within a Microporous Metal–Organic Framework at Room Temperature. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2012**, *18*, 1901–1904.

(112) Das, M. C.; Xu, H.; Wang, Z.; Srinivas, G.; Zhou, W.; Yue, Y.-F.; Nesterov, V. N.; Qian, G.; Chen, B. A Zn₄O-Containing Doubly Interpenetrated Porous Metal–Organic Framework for Photocatalytic Decomposition of Methyl Orange. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 11715– 11717.

(113) Xue, M.; Liu, Y.; Schaffino, R. M.; Xiang, S.; Zhao, X.; Zhu, G.-S.; Qiu, S.-L.; Chen, B. New Prototype Isoreticular Metal–Organic Framework $Zn_4O(FMA)_3$ for Gas Storage. *Inorg. Chem.* **2009**, *48*, 4649–4651.

(114) Bourrelly, S.; Llewellyn, P. L.; Serre, C.; Millange, F.; Loiseau, T.; Férey, G. Different Adsorption Behaviors of Methane and Carbon Dioxide in the Isotypic Nanoporous Metal Terephthalates MIL-53 and MIL-47. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 13519–13521.

(115) Senkovska, I.; Hoffmann, F.; Fröba, M.; Getzschmann, J.; Böhlmann, W.; Kaskel, S. New Highly Porous Aluminium Based Metal–Organic Frameworks: Al(OH) (ndc) (ndc = 2,6-Naphthalene Dicarboxylate) and Al(OH) (bpdc) (bpdc = 4,4'-Biphenyl Dicarboxylate). *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2009**, *122*, 93–98.

(116) Zhou, W.; Wu, H.; Hartman, M. R.; Yildirim, T. Hydrogen and Methane Adsorption in Metal–Organic Frameworks: A High-Pressure Volumetric Study. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2007**, *111*, 16131–16137.

(117) Sun, D.; Ma, S.; Simmons, J. M.; Li, J.-R.; Yuan, D.; Zhou, H.-C. An Unusual Case of Symmetry-Preserving Isomerism. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 1329–1331.

(118) Prasad, T. K.; Suh, M. P. Control of Interpenetration and Gas-Sorption Properties of Metal–Organic Frameworks by a Simple Change in Ligand Design. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2012**, *18*, 8673–8680.

(119) Seki, K.; Mori, W. Syntheses and Characterization of Microporous Coordination Polymers with Open Frameworks. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106, 1380–1385.

(120) Kim, H.; Samsonenko, D. G.; Das, S.; Kim, G.-H.; Lee, H.-S.; Dybtsev, D. N.; Berdonosova, E. A.; Kim, K. Methane Sorption and Structural Characterization of the Sorption Sites in $Zn_2(bdc)_2(dabco)$ by Single Crystal X-Ray Crystallography. *Chem. - Asian J.* **2009**, *4*, 886–891.

(121) Wang, H.; Getzschmann, J.; Senkovska, I.; Kaskel, S. Structural Transformation and High Pressure Methane Adsorption of $Co_2(1,4-bdc)_2dabco$. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2008**, *116*, 653–657.

(122) Wang, X.-S.; Ma, S.; Rauch, K.; Simmons, J. M.; Yuan, D.; Wang, X.; Yildirim, T.; Cole, W. C.; López, J. J.; Meijere, A. de; et al. Metal–Organic Frameworks Based on Double-Bond-Coupled Di-Isophthalate Linkers with High Hydrogen and Methane Uptakes. *Chem. Mater.* **2008**, *20*, 3145–3152.

(123) Li, B.; Zhang, Z.; Li, Y.; Yao, K.; Zhu, Y.; Deng, Z.; Yang, F.; Zhou, X.; Li, G.; Wu, H.; et al. Enhanced Binding Affinity, Remarkable Selectivity, and High Capacity of CO₂ by Dual Functionalization of a Rht-Type Metal–Organic Framework. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 1412–1415.

(124) Prasad, T. K.; Hong, D. H.; Suh, M. P. High Gas Sorption and Metal-Ion Exchange of Microporous Metal–Organic Frameworks with Incorporated Imide Groups. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 14043–14050.

(125) Lee, J. Y.; Pan, L.; Huang, X.; Emge, T. J.; Li, J. A Systematic Approach to Building Highly Porous, Noninterpenetrating Metal–Organic Frameworks with a Large Capacity for Adsorbing H_2 and CH_4 . Adv. Funct. Mater. **2011**, 21, 993–998.

(126) Zhao, D.; Yuan, D.; Yakovenko, A.; Zhou, H.-C. A NbO-Type Metal–Organic Framework Derived from a Polyyne-Coupled Di-Isophthalate Linker Formed in Situ. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 4196– 4198.

(127) Zhao, X.; Sun, D.; Yuan, S.; Feng, S.; Cao, R.; Yuan, D.; Wang, S.; Dou, J.; Sun, D. Comparison of the Effect of Functional Groups on Gas-Uptake Capacities by Fixing the Volumes of Cages A and B and Modifying the Inner Wall of Cage C in Rht-Type MOFs. *Inorg. Chem.* **2012**, *51*, 10350–10355.

(128) Tan, C.; Yang, S.; Champness, N. R.; Lin, X.; Blake, A. J.; Lewis, W.; Schröder, M. High Capacity Gas Storage by a 4,8-Connected Metal–Organic Polyhedral Framework. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, 47, 4487–4489.

(129) Seki, K. Dynamic Channels of a Porous Coordination Polymer Responding to External Stimuli. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2002**, *4*, 1968–1971.

(130) Hou, C.; Liu, Q.; Fan, J.; Zhao, Y.; Wang, P.; Sun, W.-Y. Novel (3,4,6)-Connected Metal–Organic Framework with High Stability and Gas-Uptake Capability. *Inorg. Chem.* **2012**, *51*, 8402–8408.

(131) Liu, D.; Wu, H.; Wang, S.; Xie, Z.; Li, J.; Lin, W. A High Connectivity Metal-organic Framework with Exceptional Hydrogen and Methane Uptake Capacities. *Chem. Sci.* **2012**, *3*, 3032–3037.

(132) Yuan, D.; Zhao, D.; Sun, D.; Zhou, H.-C. An Isoreticular Series of Metal–Organic Frameworks with Dendritic Hexacarboxylate Ligands and Exceptionally High Gas-Uptake Capacity. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 5357–5361.

(133) Park, H. J.; Lim, D.-W.; Yang, W. S.; Oh, T.-R.; Suh, M. P. A Highly Porous Metal–Organic Framework: Structural Transformations of a Guest-Free MOF Depending on Activation Method and Temperature. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2011**, *17*, 7251–7260.

(134) Lu, W.; Yuan, D.; Makal, T. A.; Li, J.-R.; Zhou, H.-C. A Highly Porous and Robust (3,3,4)-Connected Metal–Organic Framework Assembled with a 90° Bridging-Angle Embedded Octacarboxylate Ligand. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 1580–1584.

(135) Han, D.; Jiang, F.-L.; Wu, M.-Y.; Chen, L.; Chen, Q.-H.; Hong, M.-C. A Non-Interpenetrated Porous Metal–Organic Framework with High Gas-Uptake Capacity. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 9861–9863.

(136) Yan, Y.; Yang, S.; Blake, A. J.; Lewis, W.; Poirier, E.; Barnett, S. A.; Champness, N. R.; Schröder, M. A Mesoporous Metal–Organic Framework Constructed from a Nanosized C_3 -Symmetric Linker and $[Cu_{24}(isophthalate)_{24}]$ Cuboctahedra. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 9995–9997.

(137) Klein, N.; Senkovska, I.; Baburin, I. A.; Grünker, R.; Stoeck, U.; Schlichtenmayer, M.; Streppel, B.; Mueller, U.; Leoni, S.; Hirscher, M.; et al. Route to a Family of Robust, Non-Interpenetrated Metal–Organic Frameworks with Pto-like Topology. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2011**, *17*, 13007–13016.

(138) Simon, C. M.; Kim, J.; Gomez-Gualdron, D. A.; Camp, J. S.; Chung, Y. G.; Martin, R. L.; Mercado, R.; Deem, M. W.; Gunter, D.; Haranczyk, M.; et al. The Materials Genome in Action: Identifying the Performance Limits for Methane Storage. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2015**, *8*, 1190–1199.

(139) Mason, J. A.; Oktawiec, J.; Taylor, M. K.; Hudson, M. R.; Rodríguez, J.; Bachman, J. E.; Gonzalez, M. I.; Cervellino, A.; Guagliardi, A.; Brown, C. M.; et al. Frameworks with Intrinsic Thermal Management. *Nature* **2015**, *527*, 357–361.

(140) Senkovska, I.; Kaskel, S. High Pressure Methane Adsorption in the Metal–Organic Frameworks Cu₃(btc)₂, Zn₂(bdc)₂dabco, and $Cr_3F(H_2O)_2O(bdc)_3$. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 2008, 112, 108–115.

(141) Peng, Y.; Krungleviciute, V.; Eryazici, I.; Hupp, J. T.; Farha, O. K.; Yildirim, T. Methane Storage in Metal–Organic Frameworks: Current Records, Surprise Findings, and Challenges. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 11887–11894.

(142) Sun, Y.; Liu, C.; Su, W.; Zhou, Y.; Zhou, L. Principles of Methane Adsorption and Natural Gas Storage. *Adsorption* **2009**, *15*, 133–137.

(143) Thornton, A. W.; Nairn, K. M.; Hill, J. M.; Hill, A. J.; Hill, M. R. Metal–Organic Frameworks Impregnated with Magnesium-Decorated Fullerenes for Methane and Hydrogen Storage. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 10662–10669.

(144) Wilmer, C. E.; Leaf, M.; Lee, C. Y.; Farha, O. K.; Hauser, B. G.; Hupp, J. T.; Snurr, R. Q. Large-Scale Screening of Hypothetical Metal–Organic Frameworks. *Nat. Chem.* **2012**, *4*, 83–89.

(145) Simon, C. M.; Kim, J.; Gomez-Gualdron, D. A.; Camp, J. S.; Chung, Y. G.; Martin, R. L.; Mercado, R.; Deem, M. W.; Gunter, D.; Haranczyk, M.; et al. The Materials Genome in Action: Identifying the Performance Limits for Methane Storage. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2015**, 8 (4), 1190–1199.

(146) Sloan, E. D. Fundamental Principles and Applications of Natural Gas Hydrates. *Nature* 2003, 426, 353-363.

(147) Walsh, M. R.; Koh, C. A.; Sloan, E. D.; Sum, A. K.; Wu, D. T. Microsecond Simulations of Spontaneous Methane Hydrate Nucleation and Growth. *Science* **2009**, *326*, 1095–1098.

(148) Sloan, E. D.; Koh, C. *Clathrate Hydrates of Natural Gases*, 3rd ed.; Chemical Industries Series; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 2007; Vol. *119*.

(149) Gudmundsson, J. S.; Borrehaug, A. Frozen Hydrate for Transport of Natural Gas. Presented at the 2nd International Conference on Natural Gas Hydrate, Toulouse, France, Jun 2–6, 1996. (150) Okui, T.; Maeda, Y.; Kaneko, K. (Tokyo Gas Co., Ltd.). Method of storing and transporting gases. European Patent EP 0787941 A3, 1996.

(151) Miyawaki, J.; Kanda, T.; Suzuki, T.; Okui, T.; Maeda, Y.; Kaneko, K. Macroscopic Evidence of Enhanced Formation of Methane Nanohydrates in Hydrophobic Nanospaces. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **1998**, *102*, 2187–2192.

(152) Perrin, A.; Celzard, A.; Marêché, J. F.; Furdin, G. Improved Methane Storage Capacities by Sorption on Wet Active Carbons. *Carbon* 2004, 42, 1249–1256.

(153) Zhou, L.; Li, M.; Sun, Y.; Zhou, Y. Effect of Moisture in Microporous Activated Carbon on the Adsorption of Methane. *Carbon* **2001**, *39*, 773–776.

(154) Zhou, L.; Sun, Y.; Zhou, Y. Enhancement of the Methane Storage on Activated Carbon by Preadsorbed Water. *AIChE J.* 2002, 48, 2412–2416.

(155) Zhou, Y.; Dai, M.; Zhou, L.; Sun, Y.; Su, W. Storage of Methane on Wet Activated Carbon: Influence of Pore Size Distribution. *Carbon* **2004**, *42*, 1855–1858.

(156) Liu, J.; Zhou, Y.; Sun, Y.; Su, W.; Zhou, L. Methane Storage in Wet Carbon of Tailored Pore Sizes. *Carbon* **2011**, *49*, 3731–3736.

(157) Celzard, A.; Marêché, J. F. Optimal Wetting of Active Carbons for Methane Hydrate Formation. *Fuel* **2006**, *85*, 957–966.

(158) Ning, G.; Xu, C.; Mu, L.; Chen, G.; Wang, G.; Gao, J.; Fan, Z.; Qian, W.; Wei, F. High Capacity Gas Storage in Corrugated Porous Graphene with a Specific Surface Area-Lossless Tightly Stacking Manner. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 6815–6817.

(159) Kumar, K. V.; Charalambopoulou, G.; Kainourgiakis, M.; Gotzias, A.; Stubos, A.; Steriotis, Th. The Required Level of Isosteric Heat for the Adsorptive Storage/Delivery of H_2 in the UiO Series of MOFs. *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 44848–44851.

(160) Cavenati, S.; Grande, C. A.; Rodrigues, A. E. Adsorption Equilibrium of Methane, Carbon Dioxide, and Nitrogen on Zeolite 13X at High Pressures. J. Chem. Eng. Data **2004**, 49, 1095–1101.

(161) Murata, K.; Miyawaki, J.; Kaneko, K. A Simple Determination Method of the Absolute Adsorbed Amount for High Pressure Gas Adsorption. *Carbon* **2002**, *40*, 425–428.

(162) Himeno, S.; Komatsu, T.; Fujita, S. High-Pressure Adsorption Equilibria of Methane and Carbon Dioxide on Several Activated Carbons. J. Chem. Eng. Data 2005, 50, 369–376.

(163) Zheng, Q.-R.; Liao, H.-F.; Chen, X.; Zhi, H.-J. Adsorption Equilibrium of Supercritical Methane on Activated Carbon. J. Fuel Chem. Technol. 2012, 40, 892–896.

(164) Balathanigaimani, M. S.; Shim, W.-G.; Lee, J.-W.; Moon, H. Adsorption of Methane on Novel Corn Grain-Based Carbon Monoliths. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2009**, *119*, 47–52.

(165) Al-Muhtaseb, S. A. Adsorption and Desorption Equilibria of Nitrogen, Methane, Ethane, and Ethylene on Date-Pit Activated Carbon. J. Chem. Eng. Data 2010, 55, 313–319.

(166) Yuan, B.; Wu, X.; Chen, Y.; Huang, J.; Luo, H.; Deng, S. Adsorptive Separation Studies of Ethane-Methane and Methane-Nitrogen Systems Using Mesoporous Carbon. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2013**, *394*, 445–450.

(167) Ning, P.; Li, F.; Yi, H.; Tang, X.; Peng, J.; Li, Y.; He, D.; Deng, H. Adsorption Equilibrium of Methane and Carbon Dioxide on Microwave-Activated Carbon. *Sep. Purif. Technol.* **2012**, *98*, 321–326.

(168) Kubo, T.; Sakamoto, H.; Fujimori, T.; Itoh, T.; Ohba, T.; Kanoh, H.; Martínez-Escandell, M.; Ramos-Fernández, J. M.; Casco, M.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F.; et al. Diffusion-Barrier-Free Porous Carbon Monoliths as a New Form of Activated Carbon. *ChemSusChem* **2012**. 5, 2271–2277.

(169) Zhao, D.; Timmons, D. J.; Yuan, D.; Zhou, H.-C. Tuning the Topology and Functionality of Metal–Organic Frameworks by Ligand Design. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2011**, *44*, 123–133.

(170) Bae, Y.-S.; Snurr, R. Q. Optimal Isosteric Heat of Adsorption for Hydrogen Storage and Delivery Using Metal–organic Frameworks. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2010**, *132*, 300–303.

(171) Frost, H.; Düren, T.; Snurr, R. Q. Effects of Surface Area, Free Volume, and Heat of Adsorption on Hydrogen Uptake in Metal–Organic Frameworks. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 9565–9570.

(172) Frost, H.; Snurr, R. Q. Design Requirements for Metal– Organic Frameworks as Hydrogen Storage Materials. J. Phys. Chem. C 2007, 111, 18794–18803.

(173) Bhatia, S. K.; Myers, A. L. Optimum Conditions for Adsorptive Storage. *Langmuir* **2006**, *22*, 1688–1700.

(174) Najibi, H.; Chapoy, A.; Tohidi, B. Methane/natural Gas Storage and Delivered Capacity for Activated Carbons in Dry and Wet Conditions. *Fuel* **2008**, *87*, 7–13.

(175) Mota, J. P. B. Impact of Gas Composition on Natural Gas Storage by Adsorption. *AIChE J.* **1999**, *45*, 986–996.

(176) Li, X.; Chen, J. Adsorption of Natural Gas and Its Whole Components on Adsorbents. *Adsorption* **2011**, *17*, 949–954.

(177) Ridha, F. N.; Yunus, R. M.; Rashid, M.; Ismail, A. F. Dynamic Delivery Analysis of Adsorptive Natural Gas Storages at Room Temperature. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2007**, *88*, 349–357.

(178) Ridha, F. N.; Yunus, R. M.; Rashid, M.; Ismail, A. F. Thermal Analysis of Adsorptive Natural Gas Storages during Dynamic Charge Phase at Room Temperature. *Exp. Therm. Fluid Sci.* 2007, *32*, 14–22.

(179) Walton, K. S.; Cavalcante, C. L., Jr.; LeVan, M. D. Adsorption of Light Alkanes on Coconut Nanoporous Activated Carbon. *Braz. J. Chem. Eng.* **2006**, *23*, 555–561.

(180) Vasanth Kumar, K.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. Co-Adsorption of N_2 in the Presence of CH_4 within Carbon Nanospaces: Evidence from Molecular Simulations. *Nanotechnology* **2013**, *24*, 035401.

(181) Pupier, O.; Goetz, V.; Fiscal, R. Effect of Cycling Operations on an Adsorbed Natural Gas Storage. *Chem. Eng. Process.* 2005, 44, 71–79.

(182) Wahby, A.; Ramos-Fernández, J. M.; Martínez-Escandell, M.; Sepúlveda-Escribano, A.; Silvestre-Albero, J.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. High-Surface-Area Carbon Molecular Sieves for Selective CO₂ Adsorption. *ChemSusChem* **2010**, *3*, 974–981.

(183) Silvestre-Albero, J.; Wahby, A.; Sepúlveda-Escribano, A.; Martínez-Escandell, M.; Kaneko, K.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. Ultrahigh CO₂ Adsorption Capacity on Carbon Molecular Sieves at Room Temperature. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 6840–6842. (184) Yang, X. D.; Zheng, Q. R.; Gu, A. Z.; Lu, X. S. Experimental Studies of the Performance of Adsorbed Natural Gas Storage System during Discharge. *Appl. Therm. Eng.* **2005**, *25*, 591–601.

(185) Santos, J. C.; Marcondes, F.; Gurgel, J. M. Performance Analysis of a New Tank Configuration Applied to the Natural Gas Storage Systems by Adsorption. *Appl. Therm. Eng.* **2009**, *29*, 2365– 2372.

(186) Vasiliev, L. L.; Kanonchik, L. E.; Mishkinis, D. A.; Rabetsky, M. I. Adsorbed Natural Gas Storage and Transportation Vessels. *Int. J. Therm. Sci.* **2000**, *39*, 1047–1055.

(187) Rahman, K. A.; Loh, W. S.; Chakraborty, A.; Saha, B. B.; Chun, W. G.; Ng, K. C. Thermal Enhancement of Charge and Discharge Cycles for Adsorbed Natural Gas Storage. *Appl. Therm. Eng.* **2011**, *31*, 1630–1639.

(188) Volkswagen Review. Autocar. http://www.autocar.co.uk/carreviews/volkswagen (accessed Dec 2016).